

CITY OF WOODBURN COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

MEMORANDUM

270 Montgome	ery Street	Woodburn, Oregon 97071	Phone (503) 982-5246	Fax (503) 982-5244		
Date:	September 26, 2019 (Prepared August 16)					
То:	Planning Commission					
Through:	Chris Kerr, AICP, Community Development Director CK.					
From:	Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner CC					
Subject:	Housing Needs Analysis (HNA): Task 5 "Recommended Measures" Discussion Continued from July 25 Second Workshop					

Executive Summary

Background: At the end of the July 25 second workshop on the HNA, the Commission requested that staff update proposed comprehensive plan text amendments to edit those premised on recommended measures that the Commission declined to recommend – the "no's".

This memo has one attachment, Attachment 108, that is the latest draft version of the HNA document. Please review the revised proposed comprehensive plan text amendments on pages 54-58. (To see goals and policies as they exist today, view the online <u>Comprehensive</u> <u>Plan</u>.)

Objective: To conclude this third workshop on the HNA recommended measures with a recommendation to the City Council to adopt the HNA (Attachment 108) with a number of specific measures. A motion that keeps most of the recommended measures would be:

To recommend that the City Council in fall 2019:

- a. adopt the Housing Needs Analysis plan document;
- b. pursue the following recommended measures within HNA Appendix B: [... reference each by number or letter ...]; and
- c. resolve to direct staff to initiate amendments to the Woodburn Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan to manifest these measures.

Attachment:

• 108. Draft of HNA Plan Document to Adopt (August 14, 2019)



City of Woodburn

Housing Needs Analysis



This project is funded by Oregon general fund dollars through the Department of Land Conservation and Development. The contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the State of Oregon.

DRAFT

Aug. 14, 2019

Attachment 108

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Under Oregon House Bill HB 4006 (2018), the state legislature provided funding for housing needs studies as part of the Department of Land Conservation and Development's (DLCD) Technical Assistance grant program. Woodburn applied for, and received funding, to conduct a housing needs analysis starting June 2018.

This work is made possible through the sincere input by City staff and the Woodburn Planning Commission. We specifically recognize and appreciate the time and attention dedicated to this work by the following people.

City of Woodburn

Chris Kerr, AICP, Community Development Director Colin Cortes, AICP, Senior Planner Dan Handel, AICP, Assistant Planner

Woodburn Planning Commission

Charles Piper, Chair Ellen Bandelow, Vice Chair Ronald Aiken Merri Berlin Sharon Corning Wassa Dos Reis Chris Lassen

Woodburn Technical Advisory Group (TAG)

Jacob de Soto, Director of HR & Safety, BrucePac Ted Stonecliffe, Transit Planner II, Cherriots Pam Phan, Policy & Organizing Director, Community Alliance of Tenants Robert Leeb, Principal in Charge, Leeb Architects Brandon Reich, Senior Planner, Marion County Jesse Hamberger, Lead Pastor, Mid Valley Community Church Christie Hughes, Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency Maria Elena Guerra ("Meg"), Executive Director, Farmworker Development Housing Corporation Claudia Cantu, Housing Manager, Farmworker Development Housing Corporation

FCS GROUP

Michael Freels, Energy Analyst, Oregon Department of Energy Eugene Labunsky, developer through West Coast Home Solutions Benjamin Gutierrez, Assistant Store Director, WinCo Foods Adam Lisiewski, WinCo Foods

Project Consultants FCS GROUP



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements)
Table of Contents	i
Section I. Introduction	
Housing Needs Analysis Structure)
Goal 10 and Oregon Regulatory Requirements	,
Report Organization	\$
Section II. Housing Needs Projection	ŀ
Methodology	ŀ
Demographics and Socioeconomics	ŀ
Housing Inventory and Tenancy)
Factors affecting housing needs	
Housing Needs Forecast)
Housing Density Levels)
Section III. Buildable Land Inventory	ŀ
Buildable Land Inventory Methodology24	ŀ
Residential Land Base	;
Land Classifications	\$
Development Constraints	\$
Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results	\$
Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory)
Section IV. Land Needs Reconciliation)
Residential Land Needs Forecast Methods	,
Housing Forecast and Residential Land Needs Methods	,
Reconciliation of Land Supply and Demand44	ŀ



Section V. Key Findings and Recommendations	page ii 46
key findings from the housing needs analysis	46
Reccommended Housing Actions	46
Appendix A: Existing Dev. Code	48
Appendix B: Draft Policies and Actions	49
Glossary	59



Section I. INTRODUCTION

This report presents Woodburn's Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) for the 2019 to 2039 period. It is intended to comply with statewide planning policies that govern planning for housing and residential development, including Goal 10 (Housing) and Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660 Division 8. It provides the City with a factual basis to update the Housing Element of the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan and the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO), and to support future planning efforts related to housing and options for addressing unmet housing needs.

Future planning efforts, including development and redevelopment will be informed by this report as it provides the City with information about the housing market in Woodburn and describes the factors that will affect future housing demand, such as changing demographics. This analysis will help decision makers understand whether the City has enough residential land to accommodate growth over the next 20 years.

This process included a series of technical advisory group (TAG) meetings coupled with public engagement sessions, and Planning Commission work sessions to receive feedback and provide revisions to the final housing needs analysis draft.

The City of Woodburn and FCS Group solicited public input from the Planning Commission serving as an ad-hoc Project Advisory Committee. The Planning Commission as of this writing met three times December 13, 2018, March 14, 2019, and May 23, 2019 to discuss project assumptions, results, and implications and is scheduled to have a second workshop on July 25, 2019 to continue discussion of HNA recommended measures. The project relied on the Planning Commission to review draft products and provide input at key points (e.g. before recommendations and decisions were made and before draft work products were finalized).

The project required many assumptions and policy choices that the committee needed to vet and agree upon, as these choices affect current and future residents. In short, local review and community input were essential to developing a locally appropriate housing needs analysis and housing strategy.

Public Engagement

The city and consultants solicited input from the general public at two public open houses. The first open house, held on February 28, 2019 at the Woodburn Public Library, solicited comments on the preliminary results of the housing needs analysis including the buildable lands inventory. The second public open house, held on May 13, 2019 at Success Alternative High School, solicited comments on the final results of the housing needs analysis and housing strategy including recommended measures.



Housing Needs Analysis Structure

Goal 10 and Oregon Regulatory Requirements

The passage of the Oregon Land Use Planning Act of 1974 (ORS Chapter 197) established the Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC) and the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD). The Act required the Commission to develop and adopt a set of statewide planning goals. Goal 10 addresses housing in Oregon and provides guidelines for local governments to follow in developing their local comprehensive land use plans and implementing policies.

At a minimum, local housing policies must meet the applicable requirements of Goal 10 and the statutes and administrative rules that implement it (ORS 197.295 to 197.314, ORS 197.475 to 197.490, and OAR 600-008). Goal 10 requires incorporated cities to complete an inventory of buildable residential lands. Goal 10 also requires cities to encourage the numbers of housing units in price and rent ranges commensurate with the financial capabilities of its households.

Goal 10 defines needed housing types as "all housing on land zoned for residential use or mixed residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are affordable to households within the county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to households with low incomes, very low incomes and extremely low incomes." ORS 197.303 defines needed housing types:

- (a) Housing that includes, but is not limited to, attached and detached single-family housing and multiple family housing for both owner and renter occupancy.
- (b) Government assisted housing.¹
- (c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 to 197.490.
- (d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for single-family residential use that are in addition to lots within designated manufactured dwelling subdivisions.
- (e) Housing for farmworkers.

A recommended approach to conducting a housing needs analysis is described in *Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas*, the Department of Land Conservation and Development's guidebook on local housing needs studies. As described in the workbook, the specific steps in the housing needs analysis are:

1. Project the number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years.

2. Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic trends and factors that may affect the 20-year projection of structure type mix.



¹ Government assisted housing can be any housing type listed in ORS 197.303 (a), (c), or (d).

3. Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if possible, the housing trends that relate to demand for different types of housing.

4. Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the projected households based on household income.

5. Determine the needed housing mix and density ranges for each plan designation and the average needed net density for all structure types.

6. Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type.

ORS 197.296 specifically applies to cities with 25,000 or more population, this statute is followed to determine housing needs for Woodburn, (2017 population 26,965). This analysis incorporates 20-year population growth for the Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) based on forecasts provided by Portland State University's Population Research Center.

Woodburn must identify needs for all needed housing types as well as adopt policies that increase the likelihood that they will be developed. This housing needs analysis was developed to meet the requirements of Goal 10 and its implementing administrative rules and statutes.

Report Organization

This report provides the technical basis of findings that support proposed housing policy recommendations and subsequent actions that the city will take to update its Comprehensive Plan and the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO). Each section of this report provides current data, assumptions and results that comprise all findings and conclusions:

I. Introduction.

II. Housing Needs Projection: provides a demographic overview and summary of market trends influencing housing growth in Woodburn.

III. Buildable Land Inventory: identifies vacant, partially vacant and redevelopable residential land within the Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), and accounts for constraints to get to a final determination of capacity to meet 20-year needs.

IV. Land Needs Reconciliation: This section compares expected land demand to vacant land supply to meet housing mix and densities described in the HNA.

V. Draft Findings and Recommendations: highlights key findings and draft policy recommendations and actions the City should consider to address housing needs.

VI. Glossary: list of key terms used in the housing needs analysis.



Section II. HOUSING NEEDS

PROJECTION

The housing needs forecast is a 20-year projection from the base year of 2019 through year 2039 to accommodate population growth for the Woodburn UGB. This section of the report will describe the characteristics of the future demand for housing in the City over the planning period.

Methodology

The methodology for projecting housing needs considers a mix of demographic and socio-economic trends, housing market characteristics and long-range population growth projections. Population is a primary determinate for household formations—which in-turn drives housing need.

Regional (Marion County) and local (City or UGB) population, households, income and market characteristics are described in this report using available data provided by reliable sources, such as the U.S. Census Bureau (Census and American Community Survey), the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Oregon Department of Housing and Community Services, Portland State University (PSU) and the City of Woodburn. Where trends or long-range projections are provided by an identified data source, FCS GROUP has included extrapolations or interpolations of the data to arrive at a base year (2019 estimate) and forecast year (2039 projection).

The housing need forecast translates population growth into households and households into housing need by dwelling type, tenancy (owner vs. renter) and affordability level.

Demographics and Socioeconomics

Demographic trends are important for a thorough understanding of the dynamics of the Woodburn housing market. This section documents demographic, socioeconomic, and other trends relevant to Woodburn at the national, state, and regional levels.

Demographic trends provide a context for growth in a region; factors such as age, income, migration, and other trends show how communities have grown and how they will shape future growth. Characteristics such as age and ethnicity are indicators of how the population has grown in the past and provide insight into factors that may affect future growth.

Population

The City of Woodburn recorded a record-high population of 24,685 in 2017 (estimate by PSU). Taking into account residents living in unincorporated Marion County but inside the UGB, the total Woodburn UGB population is estimated at approximately 26,965.

Since the year 2000, Woodburn has grown at a relatively faster pace than Marion County as a whole (**Exhibit 2.1**).



Long-range population forecasts (prepared by PSU) anticipate 8,845 new residents will be added to the Woodburn UGB, a subset of the 74,892 added to Marion County by year 2039. This equates to an annual average growth rate (AGR) of 1.4% and a 12.1% "capture rate" of future County-wide population growth for the Woodburn UGB (see **Exhibit 2.2**).

Exhibit 2.1: Population Trends (2000-2017)

	2000	2010	2017	AGR 2000-2017
Woodburn City	20,100	24,080	24,685	1.2%
Marion County	284,834	315,335	339,200	1.0%
Oregon	3,421,399	3,837,300	4,141,100	1.1%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Portland State University Population Research Center.

Abbreviations: AGR - Annual Growth Rate

Exhibit 2.2: Population Projections (2019-2039)

	Estimate	Forecast	Proj. Change	Proj. AGR
	2019	2039	20 Years	(2019 - 2039)
Wooburn UGB	26,965	35,810	8,845	1.4%
Marion County	344,341	419,233	74,892	1.0%
Oregon	4,224,122	5,151,616	927,494	1.0%

Source: Portland State University Population Research Center

Forecasts of Oregon's County Populations and Components of Change, 2017-2068.

Compiled by FCS Group. AGR = average annual growth rate.

Income and General Characteristics

Median household and family income levels in Woodburn are below those observed in Marion County and the state. This may be partially attributable to the combination of lower-wage agricultural and service jobs within the City and a relatively high concentration of young families in Woodburn (Exhibit 2.3-2.4).

Exhibit 2.3: Households by Income Level, 2017

	City of Woodburn	Marion Countv	Oregon
Median Household Income	\$47,042	\$53,828	\$56,119
Median Family Income	\$50,330	\$62,694	\$69,031
Household Income Level			
\$0 to \$29,999	28.3%	25.7%	26.4%
\$30,000 to \$49,999	23.6%	20.8%	18.4%
\$50,000 to \$99,999	37.0%	34.0%	31.5%
\$100,000 or more	11.0%	19.6%	23.8%
Total Households	100%	100%	100%

Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates for City of Woodburn, Marion County, and State of Oregon (Tables B19001)



Woodburn has a diverse mix of older and younger residents with a notable concentration of young residents, especially when compared with Marion County and Oregon. As indicated in **Exhibit 2.4**, Woodburn has a relatively high share of residents under 19 years of age.

Age Range	City of Woodburn	Marion County	Oregon
0 to 19	33.9%	27.9%	24.1%
20 to 44	31.2%	33.0%	33.5%
45 to 64	21.0%	24.4%	26.5%
65 and older	13.9%	14.6%	15.9%
Total	100%	100%	100%

Exhibit 2.4: Population by Age Cohort, 2017

Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (Table DP05)

Housing Inventory and Tenancy

The current housing inventory, mix and tenancy sheds light on existing conditions locally as well as market demand preferences. According to current estimates by the U.S. Census, American Community Survey, the City of Woodburn had 8,273 housing units as of 2017.

Analysis of historical development trends in Woodburn provides insight into the functioning of the local housing market. The mix of housing types and densities, in particular, are key variables in forecasting the capacity of residential land to accommodate new housing and to forecast future land need. The specific steps are described in Task 2 of the DLCD *Planning for Residential Lands Workbook* as:

- 1. Determine the time period for which the data will be analyzed.
- 2. Identify types of housing to address (all needed housing types).
- 3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average actual gross density, and average actual net density of all housing types.

This section presents information about residential development by housing type. There are multiple ways that housing types can be grouped. For example, they can be grouped by:

- 1. Structure type (e.g., single-family detached, apartments, etc.).
- 2. Tenure (e.g., distinguishing unit type by owner or renter units).
- 3. Housing affordability (e.g., subsidized housing or units affordable at given income levels).
- 4. Some combination of these categories.

For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types based on: (1) whether the structure is standalone or attached to another structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. The housing types used in this analysis are consistent with needed housing types as defined in ORS 197.303:

- **Single-family detached** includes single-family detached units, manufactured homes on lots and in mobile home parks, and accessory dwelling units.
- **Single-family attached** is all structures with a common wall where each dwelling unit occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses.



• **Multifamily** is all attached structures (e.g., duplexes, tri-plexes, quad-plexes, and structures with five or more units) other than single-family detached units, manufactured units, or single-family attached units.

Like most Oregon cities, single-family detached housing is the most prevalent classification in Woodburn, representing 67% of the housing stock. The remaining housing units in Woodburn include multi-family units (15% of the inventory), townhomes and plexes (9%), and mobile homes/other units (9%), as shown in **Exhibits 2.5-2.6**.





Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017.

Owner-occupied housing units in the City of Woodburn account for 59% of the housing inventory while renter-occupied units account for 36% with vacant housing units constituting the balance. Most homeowners reside in single-family detached units (86%) or manufactured homes/other units (11%). The majority of renters also reside in single-family housing units closely followed by multi-family housing units (apartments) and lastly townhouses/plexes (**Exhibits 2.6-2.7**).



Exhibit 2.6: Units by	Tenure by Structure	Туре, 2013-2017,	City of Woodburn
-----------------------	---------------------	------------------	------------------

	Owner-Occupied	Occupied		
Housing Type	Dwelling Units	Dwelling Units	Vacant Units	All Dwelling Units
Single Family Detached	4,217	1,119	235	5,571
Townhomes / Plexes	72	668	20	760
Multi family (5+ units)	-	1,174	39	1,213
Mfg. home / other	614	45	70	729
Total Units	4,903	3,006	364	8,273
Distribution	59%	36%	4%	100%

	Owner-Occupied	Occupied		
Housing Type	Dwelling Units	Dwelling Units	Vacant Units	All Dwelling Units
Single Family Detached	86%	37%	65%	67%
Townhomes / Plexes	1%	22%	5%	9%
Multi family (5+ units)	0%	39%	11%	15%
Mfg. home / other	13%	1%	19%	9%
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%

Source: American Community Survey, 2013-2017; compiled by FCS GROUP.





Source: U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017.



Affordable Housing Inventory

A 2016-17 statewide study of housing affordability was led by the Oregon Housing and Community Services Department (OHCS) which included all cities and counties, including Marion County and the City of Woodburn. The study included an inventory of existing housing units subsidized by nonprofits, local, state, or federal entities in each community and compared the housing supply to the need (based on an equitable distribution of the total statewide inventory) for subsidized housing.

Overall findings from the subsidized housing inventory/needs analysis for the City of Woodburn and Marion County are reflected in **Exhibit 2.8**. The OHCS study concluded that there were 387 subsidized affordable housing units in Woodburn, which was slightly in excess of the City's equitable statewide (demand) allocation.

Exhibit 2.8: Current Inventory of Subsidized Housing Units

	City of Woodburn	Marion County
Affordable Housing Units in Inventory	387	3,059
Need (Equity) Distribution Percent	0.5%	7.5%
Equitable Distribution of Units	334	4,675
Actual Units / Equitable Distribution of Units	115.8%	65.4%

Source : Oregon Housing and Community Services Housing Needs Versus Inventory Summary

As would be expected, upper-income households tend to own rather than rent, and the opposite is true for lower-income households, as shown in **Exhibit 2.9**.

			Count	Count		
			Owner	Renter	% Owner	% Renter
Qualifying Income Level	Lower-end	Upper-End	Occupied	Occuped	Occupied	Occuped
Upper (120% or more of MFI)	\$70,080	or more	1,795	644	36.6%	21.4%
Middle (80% to 120% of MFI)	\$46,720	\$70,080	1,175	507	24.0%	16.9%
Low (50% to 80% of MFI)	\$29,200	\$46,720	965	623	19.7%	20.7%
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI)	\$17,520	\$29,200	658	421	13.4%	14.0%
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI)	\$17,520	or less	309	812	6.3%	27.0%
Total			4,903	3,006	100%	100%

Exhibit 2.9: Woodburn Tenancy by Income Level, 2017

Source: US Census Bureau 2013 - 2017 ACS (Table S2503), compiled by FCS GROUP

An evaluation of renter income levels versus available housing inventory indicates that there is a current shortfall or gap in available rental housing inventory in Woodburn at the upper- and lower-price points (**Exhibit 2.10**). This is understandable at the lowest price points where there is almost always more demand than supply. The fact that there is more housing demand for good quality rentals than what is in the current supply reflects an aging housing inventory and demonstrates strong potential market demand for new apartments that rent for 1,250-1,875 per month (for 2+ bedrooms).



page 10

Median Household Income Range	Renter- Occupied Housing Units	Affordable Monthly Rent Costs *	Estimated Available Rental Units	Housing (Gap) or Surplus
\$75,000 or more:	553	\$1,875	272	(281)
\$50,000 to \$74,999:	423	\$1,250-\$1,875	455	32
\$35,000 to \$49,999:	629	\$875-\$1,250	963.75	335
\$20,000 to \$34,999:	402	\$500-\$875	819	417
Less than \$20,000:	812	Less than \$500	408	(404)
Zero or Negative Income	187	Require Subsidy	88	(99)
Total	3,006	-	3,006	•

Exhibit 2.10: Rental Housing Gaps, City of Woodburn, 2017

Source: US Census Bureau 2013 - 2017 ACS

* Calculated as 30% of income range based on HUD guidelines

Housing Market Analysis

As mentioned previously most of the housing in Woodburn is classified as single-family detached units. New housing construction permits issued by the City indicate that 400 permits were issued over the seven-year time frame (Jan. 2012 to Dec. 2018). As indicated in **Exhibit 2.11**, about 67% of new construction was for single family detached homes. The remaining 33% was for multifamily apartments and other housing types.

Exhibit 2.11: Woodburn Housing Inventory (2010-2017)

	2042 4-00	2047 4 00		
	2012 ACS	2017 ACS		
Owner Occupied	3,490	3,318		
Renter Occupied	2,595	2,739		
Vacant	484	706		
Total	6,569	6,763		
Owner Occupied %	57.4%	54.8%		
Renter Occupied %	42.6%	45.2%		
Total	100.0%	100.0%		
		2012-18		
	2012 ACS	permits*	2018 Est.	
Single-Family Detached	5,187	269	5,456	
Townhome/Plexes	1,095	4	1,099	
Multifamily	1,615	101	1,716	
Mobile Home	654	26	680	
		400	0.054	

2013 to 2017 (Tables DP04, B25077 and B25064). * housing growth based on permits issued by City.

Median home values in the City at the end of 2017 were \$167,500, while median rents jumped to \$936, according to the U.S. Census, American Community Survey 2013-2017 data.

In comparison to other housing markets, Woodburn home prices now appear to be increasing more quickly at a rate of 14.8 percent year-over-year (November 2017 and November 2018). As indicated in **Exhibit 2.12**, median home sales prices in Woodburn increased to \$256,000 in November 2018.



The observed home sales prices in Woodburn still lag behind comparable cities including Newberg, Salem, Silverton and Wilsonville in terms of media home sales prices.

Exhibit	2.13:	Median	Home	Sales	Price	Trends	in	Selected	Marke	ts

	Nov-17	Nov-18	Change %
Woodburn	\$223,000	\$256,000	14.8%
Newberg	\$318,000	\$342,000	7.5%
Salem	\$239,000	\$264,000	10.5%
Silverton	\$271,000	\$305,000	12.5%
Wilsonville	\$443,000	\$457,000	3.2%

Source: Zillow.com; analysis by FCS 11/09/18.

Factors affecting housing needs

There is a linkage between demographic characteristics and housing choice. As shown in **Exhibit 2.13** below, housing needs change over a person's lifetime.

Other factors that influence housing include:

- Homeownership rates increase as income rises.
- Single family detached homes are the preferred housing choice as income rises.
- Renters are much more likely to choose multifamily housing options (such as apartments or plexes) than single-family housing.
- Very low-income households (those earning less than 50% of the median family income) are most at-risk for becoming homeless if their economic situation worsens.



page 12





The relationship between demographic changes, income levels and housing needs can be used to forecast future housing needs. The primary demographic age cohorts are shown in **Exhibit 2.14** and described below.







Silent Generation (those born before 1925 to 1945)

This includes retirees better than age 74, who were raised during the Great Depression, Word War I or World War II. This cohort currently accounted for 6% of the city's population in 2017 and is projected to be the fastest growing segment over the next 20 years. As they reach their 80s some desire to move into assisted living facilities with nearby health care services and transit access.

Baby Boom Generation (born 1946 to 1964)

Baby boomers (currently age 55 to 74) accounted for 19% of Woodburn residents in 2017, up from 15% in 2010. The boomer population segment has been growing more rapidly than the other cohorts over the past 10 years and many are now entering their retirement years. Boomers usually prefer to "age in place" until after age 80, then may downsize or move in with family members (sometimes opting to reside in accessory dwellings off the main house).

Generation X (born 1965 to 1980)

Gen X is the demographic cohort following the baby boomers and preceding the Millennials. This cohort (currently includes people between age 39 to 54) accounted for 16% of the Woodburn residents in 2017, and is expected to overtake the baby boom cohort in numbers within the next decade. GenX households often include families with children, and many prefer to live in single family detached dwellings at various price points.

Millennials (born 1980 to early 2000s)

Millennials (currently in their twenties or thirties) accounted for 25% of the Woodburn residents in 2017, and is second only to the Generation Z segment in numbers. This segment is expected to increase more slowly than the overall population over the next few decades. Younger millennials tend to rent as they establish their careers and/or payback student loans. Working millennials often become first-time homebuyers, opting to purchase smaller single family detached homes or townhomes.

Generation Z (born mid-2000s or later)

GenZ includes residents age 19 or less. This is Woodburn's largest demographic segment and accounted for 34% of the Woodburn residents in 2017. It includes children living primarily with GenXers and Baby Boomers. This segment has been increasing in Woodburn over the past several years, but this growth may slow considerable in the future as GenXers are delaying starting families and tend to have fewer children than past generations.

Hispanic and other ethnic groups

The largest single ethnic group in Woodburn by far includes the Hispanic/Latino segment, which is spread among all demographic cohorts. Woodburn's Hispanic/Latino population accounted for 56% of its residents in 2017, down from 59% in 2010, according to the U.S. Census and American Community Survey data. While the overall growth may slow in comparison to the past, it is still projected to be the fastest growing racial/ethnic group over the next few decades.

Housing affordability considerations

When preparing a residential land need analysis, it is important to consider housing affordability issues facing Woodburn today. Like many communities in Oregon and the U.S., income levels in



Woodburn are generally not keeping up with housing prices and rents; thereby creating a housing affordability challenge.

The median home price in Woodburn was 272,500 (2019, 1^{st} Q), which is higher than the Marion County median home price, but lower than the statewide average (see **Exhibit 2.15**).

Exhibit 2.15



Rents in Woodburn are also above the Marion County average. According to the U.S. Census, American Community Survey: 2012-2017 (average), the median gross rent in Woodburn (\$936/month) was about 6 percent above the county average (**Exhibit 2.16**).

Exhibit 2.16



Housing cost burdens

According to U.S. Housing and Urban Development (HUD), households are "cost burdened" if they pay over 30% of their income on housing. Households are "severely cost burdened" when they pay over 50% of their income on housing.

As shown in **Exhibit 2.17**, households earning less than \$20,000 are experiencing the greatest hardship with respect to housing cost burdens. Nearly 4 out of 5 households with income less than \$35,000 are housing cost burdened. And nearly half of the households with income between \$35,000 and \$50,000 are cost burdened.



page 15

Exhibit 2.17



Overall, in 2017, about 19% of the households in Woodburn were cost burdened. An analysis of severe rent burdens in Woodburn indicates that 26% of the renters and 12% of the homeowners are paying more than 50% of their income on housing costs (see **Exhibit 2.18**).



Woodburn is one of many cities in Oregon where over 25% of renter households spend more than half of their income on rent. Below is a comparison chart of other cities in the region, as well as Marion County and the State of Oregon as a whole (**Exhibit 2.19**).



Severe Rent Cost Burden, Woodburn, Marion County, Oregon, Other Comparison Cities, 2013-2017 *Based on the assumption that the housing cost burden threshold is 50% of Monmouth Dayton Keizer Baker City Salem Woodburn 26% Marion County Oregon 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened Source: 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates (Tables B25091 and B25070

Exhibit 2.19

Housing Needs Forecast

The housing needs analysis for Woodburn includes an assessment of population growth forecasts, market trends and housing characteristics. The analysis of housing mix scenarios (summarized in Section 4) results in a 20-year housing demand forecast of 3,012 dwelling units.

To determine the appropriate mix of future housing demand, it is important to consider changing demographic and socio-economic conditions, such as:

- Owner-occupied single family detached housing, including standard as well as small lot housing types is expected to remain the largest housing segment in the future, but its share of the overall housing inventory will decrease. This segment is driven largely by the projected increase in the number of Gen X and Millennial households with children. While current median home prices in Woodburn are higher than the Marion County median, home prices in Woodburn are over \$100,000 below median home prices in the southern portion of the Portland Region. For duel-earning households whose inhabitants work in different communities (such as Salem and Portland), Woodburn is a nice central location in which to buy a home.
- Demand for rental housing is expected to increase significantly in the future in light of the projected population growth, low rental vacancy rates (below 3%), and relatively low income levels in comparison to housing purchase prices. According to U.S. Census American Community Survey: 2013-2017 data, Woodburn's median household income was 13% below that of Marion county while median home prices were 26% higher, and median rents were 6.5% higher. Renting is expected to be the most viable housing option for about 4 in 10 households in the future.



As indicated in the following exhibits, the future net new housing demand by tenancy assumes that 1,333 (44%) of the units are owner occupied and 1,679 (56%) are renter occupied. This would represent an increase in renter households with a measured change in the current tenancy mix, which is currently 62% owners and 38% renters, according to the U.S. Census, American Community Survey (2013-2017 average).

The expected housing types required to meet the market characteristics of demand segments discussed previously is shown in **Exhibit 2.20.** The recommended future net new housing mix includes:

- 1,563 single family detached units (low density);
- 320 townhomes/plexes (medium density);
- 1,129 apartments (including 329 medium-density garden-court apartments and 800 higherdensity apartments).

This forecast includes 20 units of shared housing units for people in non-institutional group quarters. The non-institutional group quarters housing forecasts reflect the number of units (with multiple people per unit) for future residents in congregate care, farmworker dwellings and transitional housing. This does not include institutionalized residents such as people in hospitals or correctional facilities.

Exhibit 2.20

Proj. Housing Needs by General Classifications, Woodburn UGB, 2019-2039							
			Total				
	Owner	Renter	Dwelling				
Housing Classification	Units	Units	Units				
Low-density (single family detached, mfg. housing)	1,258	305	1,563				
Medium-density							
Townhomes, plexes, group quarters	10	310	320				
Garden apartments (@16 dus/acre)	30	299	329				
Higher-density apartments (@31 dus/acre)	24	776	800				
Grand Total	1,322	1,690	3,012				

Note: numbers may not exactly add due to rounding.

Source: Woodburn HNA, Housing Needs Forecast (Task 2 and Task 4) findings, June 2019.

A comparison between the current housing mix and the baseline housing forecast is provided in **Exhibit 2.21.** The findings indicate that the share of single-family detached housing is projected to decrease from 69% (current inventory) to 64% (future inventory in 20 years), while the share of multifamily housing in Woodburn is projected to increase from 19% (current inventory) to 24% future inventory).



page 18

Exhibit 2.21



The current market gap for rental housing is a key reason why the future housing need forecast expects the share of apartments to increase significantly, and the share of renters to increase from 38% (current share of renters) to 43% (projected future share of renters), as shown in **Exhibit 2.22**.

Exhibit 2.22





The types of housing that is most suited to meet qualifying income levels for home ownership vary by family income level. The recommended distribution of future demand by price level is shown in **Exhibit 2.23**.

Exhibit 2.23

Woodburn Owner-Occupied Housing Needs: 2019-2039

Family Income Level	Upper Range of Qualifying Income	Upper Range of Home Price*	Estimated Distribution of Owner- Occupied Units	Projected Owner- Occupied Units Needed	Attainable Housing Products
Upper (120% or more of MFI)	Greater than \$70,080	Greater than \$436,000	36.6%	484	Standard Homes
Middle (80% to 120% of MFI)	\$70,080	\$436,000	26.4%	349	Small and Standard Homes, Townhomes
Low (50% to 80% of MFI)	\$46,720	\$334,650	35.0%	463	Small Homes, Townhomes, Mfgd. Homes, Plexes
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI)	\$29,200	\$209,300	2.0%	26	Govt. Assisted
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI)			0.0%	0	
Total			100.0%	1,322	

Note: numbers may not exactly due to rounding.

*Assumes 30% of income is used for mortgage payment, 20% downpayment, 6% interest, 30-year mortgage for middle and upper-income housing, and 5% downpayment for low and very-low income housing.

Source: Woodburn HNA analysis, Task 2 and Task 4 findings, June 2019.

The rental housing needs forecast for by affordability level is shown in **Exhibit 2.25**. The rental housing need is fairly evenly distributed among the family income segments.

Exhibit 2.24

Woodburn Rental-Occupied Housing Needs: 2019-2039

Family Income Level	Upper Range of Qualifying Income	Upper Range of Monthly Rent*	Estimated Distribution of Units	Projected Renter- Occupied Units Needed	Attainable Housing Products
Upper (120% or more of MFI)	Greater than \$70,080	Greater than \$1,752	21%	362	Standard Homes, Townhomes
Middle (80% to 120% of MFI)	\$70,080	\$1,752	17%	285	Small Homes, Townhomes, Apartments
Low (50% to 80% of MFI)	\$46,720	\$1,168	21%	350	Small Homes, Townhomes, Mfgd. Homes, Plexes, Apts.
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI)	\$29,200	\$730	21%	355	ADUs, Govt. Assisted Apts.
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI)			20%	338	Govt. Assisted Apts.
Total			100%	1,690	

*Assumes 30% of income is used for rental payments.

Source: Woodburn HNA analysis, Task 2 and Task 4 findings, June 2019.



For comparison purposes, the current U.S. Housing and Urban Development fair market rents within Marion County range from \$658 for an efficiency (studio) unit to \$1,707 for a four-bedroom unit (**Exhibit 2.25**).

Exhibit 2.25

HUD Fair Market Rent (FMR) by Unit Type, Marion County, 2019 Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development							
\$658	\$736	\$972	\$1,405	\$1,707			
Efficiency	1-Bedroom	2-Bedroom	3-Bedroom	4-Bedroom			

ORS 197.303 defines needed housing, in part, as "all housing on land zoned for residential use or mixed residential and commercial use that is determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at price ranges and rent levels that are affordable to households within the county with a variety of incomes, including but not limited to households with low incomes, very low incomes and extremely low incomes, as those terms are defined by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development under 42 U.S.C. 1437a." Per HUD standards, low income households are those making 80% or less of median family income (MFI), very low income households make between 30% and 50% of MFI, and extremely low income households make 30% or less of MFI.

Using 2017 MFI statistics, the monthly attainable housing cost for low-income families in Woodburn is as follows:

- Extremely Low Income, \$438 or less
- Very Low Income, \$438 to \$730
- Low Income, \$730 to \$1,168

If families within these classifications pay more than these amounts they will be "rent burdened" to some degree.



Exhibit 2.26:	Woodburn	Housing	Cost	Analysis	(Based	on	Marion	County	Median	Family
Income)										

Marion County Median Family Income Level (2017)*	\$58,400	
Available Monthly Rent or Payment (@30% of income level)	Lower-end	Upper-End
Upper (120% or more of MFI)	\$1,752	or more
Middle (80% to 120% of MFI)	\$1,168	\$1,752
Low (50% to 80% of MFI)	\$730	\$1,168
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI)	\$438	\$730
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI)	\$438	or less
Approximate Attainable Home Price**	Lower-end	Upper-End
Upper (120% or more of MFI)	\$436,000	or more
Middle (80% to 120% of MFI)	\$291,000	\$436,000
Low (50% to 80% of MFI)	\$182,000	\$291,000
Very Low (30% to 50% of MFI)	\$109,000	\$182,000
Extremely Low (less than 30% of MFI)	\$109,000	or less

Notes:

* based on Housing and Urban Development thresholds for Marion County in 2017

** assumes 20% down payment on 30-year fixed mortgage at 4.0% interest.

Source: analysis by FCS Group using Housing and Urban Development, and US Census data.

Summary of Housing Needs Forecast

Based on the population projections detailed earlier, the new housing demand within the Woodburn UGB amounts to 3,012 housing units over the next 20 years. This housing need forecast assumes that the current share of group quarters population and housing vacancy levels remain constant.

The projected number of housing units that would be suited to meet affordable median family income levels for owners and renters is summarized in **Exhibit 2.27**.

Exhibit 2.27





Housing Density Levels

The Woodburn city planning staff reviewed: history of building permits issued (years 2012-2018), recent development applications; and local development and zoning code provisions to document allowed densities and expected future average density levels (as measured in dwelling units per net acre).² As indicated in **Exhibit 2.28**, there are four general housing classifications: low-density, medium-density, high-density, and commercial/mixed-use that were considered in this analysis.

Single family detached housing is primarily provided in the RS, R1S, and RSN zones. (See WDO 2.02 for residential zoning district details.) These zones currently allow 5.2 to 10.89 dwellings per acre and permit the development of all housing types: detached, attached/townhomes, duplexes, accessory dwellings, multifamily/apartments and manufactured homes.

The low-density single family also includes homes with small lots and buildings within common lots, including cottage home parks and accessory dwellings, as well as manufactured home parks. According to the *Housing Choices Guide Book* (for housing resources see the Oregon DLCD website: https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Pages/Housing-Resources.aspx), cottage cluster developments are ideal for smaller households as an alternative to standard single family homes and apartments. They are often built in clusters of 5 to 25 units at densities ranging from 5 to 35 units per acre (note the maximum allowable RSN density in Woodburn is currently 10.89 units per acre). The overall expected average density for single family detached housing in Woodburn is 6 units per acre.

Townhomes and plexes are classified as medium-density housing and are permitted in all residential zone districts; and allowed outright in the mixed use and commercial zone districts. The RM district focuses primarily on medium density development, with allowed densities ranging from 6 to 16 dwellings per acre. The overall expected average density levels for townhomes/plexes in Woodburn is 12 units per acre for townhomes and 16 units per acre for garden court apartments.

Higher-density apartments are typically constructed as multifamily developments with 5 or more units per structure. Multifamily dwellings are permitted in all residential and mixed use and commercial zones. The allowable density ranges from 10 to 22 units per acre in the RMN zone, and 12 to 32 units per acre in the DDC, CO, CG, NNC, and MUV zones. (See WDO 2.03 for commercial zoning district details.) The overall expected average density for higher density apartments in Woodburn is 31 units per acre.



² The City of Woodburn recorded construction permits for 400 dwellings between Jan. 2012 and Dec. 2018, including 269 single family units, 101 multifamily units, 26 manufactured homes and 4 townhome/plex units.

Relative Housing Density	Housing Types	Local Zoning Classifications	Allowed Density (DU per acre)	Expected Avg. Density (DU per acre)
Low Density	Single family detached	RS, R1S, RSN	5.2 – 10.89	6
Medium Density	Small lot single family, townhomes, plexes, cottages, garden apartments	RM	6 - 16	12 (townhomes/plexes) 16 (garden apts.)
High Density	Apartments, condos	RMN (Nodal Multi-Family Residential)	10 - 22	22
Commercial and Mixed Use	Apartments or condos with commercial	DDC (Downtown Development & Conservation), CO (Commercial Office), CG (Commercial General), NNC (Nodal Neighborhood Commercial), MUV (Mixed Use Village)	12 – 32 with exceptions to DDC and NNC which have neither minimum or maximum	31

Exhibit 2.28 Allowed and Expected Development Density by Housing Type, City of Woodburn

Note: Exhibit 2.28 relative housing density categories derived from Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 660-038-0060.

Development density (measured in terms of dwelling units per net buildable acre of land area) along with projected housing demand is used to calculate residential land needs. As indicated in **Exhibit 2.28** and **Appendix A**, the Woodburn development code allows a range in development densities depending upon residential and commercial and mixed-use land use zones. City of Woodburn planning staff has estimated average densities for each zone type based on current development permitting activity and their professional judgement.



Section III. BUILDABLE LAND

INVENTORY

In accordance with OAR 660-008-0005 (2), an estimate of buildable land inventory (BLI) within the Woodburn Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) has been created to determine that amount of land available to meet housing needs. The BLI analysis uses the most current Geographic Information Systems (GIS) data provided available for the Woodburn UGB (specific GIS data sources are shown in **Exhibit 3.1**).

Buildable Land Inventory Methodology

The objective of the residential BLI is to determine the amount of developable land available for future residential housing development within the UGB. The steps taken to perform this analysis are as follows:

1. Calculate gross acres by plan designation, including classifications for fully vacant and partiallyvacant parcels. This step entails "clipping" all of the tax lots that are bisected by the current UGB to eliminate land outside current UGB from consideration for development at this time. City staff input was provided to provide a level of quality assurance to review output is consistent with OAR 660-008-0005(2).

2. Calculate gross buildable acres by plan designation by subtracting land that is constrained from future development, such as such as existing public right-of-way, parks and open space, steep slopes, and floodplains.

3. Calculate net buildable acres by plan designation, by subtracting future public facilities such as roads, schools and parks from gross buildable acres.

4. Determine total net buildable acres by plan designation by considering potential redevelopment locations and mixed-use development opportunity areas.



Dataset Name	Туре	Description	Source
City Limits	GIS Layer	Woodburn City Limits Boundary	City of Woodburn
UGB	GIS Layer	Urban Growth Boundary	City of Woodburn
WB Zoning	GIS Layer	City of Woodburn Zoning Designations	City of Woodburn
WB Comp Plan	GIS Layer	City of Woodburn and UGB Comprehensive Plan Designations	City of Woodburn
mczoning	GIS Layer	Marion County Zoning Designations	City of Woodburn
Taxlots	GIS Layer	Taxlots with Assessed Value and Property Class Code	City of Woodburn
RCWOD	GIS Layer	Riparian Corridor Wetland Overlay District	City of Woodburn
FEMA 100 Year Floodplain	GIS Layer	FEMA Floodways and 100-yr. Floodplains	City of Woodburn
Wetlands	GIS Layer	Siginificant Wetlands	City of Woodburn
PropertyClass	Tabular	Property Class and Linked Coding	Marion County Assessor ¹
NAIP 2016	GIS Service	Web service providing aerial imagery	Oregon-GEO ²

Exhibit 3.1: Woodburn BLI Data Sources

 $\underline{1-http://www.co.marion.or.us/AO/Pages/datacenter.aspx}$

2 - http://imagery.oregonexplorer.info/arcgis/services

The detailed steps used to create the land inventory are described below.

Residential Land Base

The residential land base reflects current Woodburn Comprehensive Plan land use designations. The Comprehensive Plan map for the Woodburn UGB is provided as **Exhibit 3.2**.

Properties that are within the residential land base include the following Comprehensive Plan classifications:

Residential Land Use Classifications

- Low-Density Residential (RS, R1S, RSN)
- Medium-Density Residential (RM)
- High Density Residential (RMN)

Higher density residential classifications include commercial and mixed-use zone classifications which currently allow multifamily development, the following Comprehensive Plan classifications are included in the residential land base:

Commercial and Mixed-Use Land Use Classifications

	Commercial and Mixed-Use Zoning Classifications
DDC	Downtown Development & Conservation
CO	Commercial Office
CG	Commercial General
NNC	Nodal Neighborhood Commercial
MUV	Mixed Use Village



For additional information on allowed uses within these zones, please refer to:

- Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) <u>Table 2.03A, E1, E3, & E4.</u>
- Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Table 2.03A, E4. The DDC zoning district covers downtown Woodburn and is described in <u>3.07.07B.12.a.</u>; the DDC also establishes that downtown development has no minimum off-street parking requirement.

For analysis purposes, each of these land use classifications have been grouped into residential development categories that represent the expected level of development based on the housing types/densities that are permitted by the City (housing types must be permitted outright or by conditional development approval). This includes: low, medium and high density residential categories; as well as a commercial/mixed use category (which allows a mix of low, medium and high density housing).

This analysis assumes that all of the vacant and part-vacant residential land base will be available for future housing development and can be served with adequate public facilities, including roads, water, sanitary sewer, and storm water systems.

Draft BLI findings and results were reviewed by City Staff and subjected to public review, then refined accordingly based on the input received.









Land Classifications

The next step includes classifying each tax lot (parcel) into one of the following categories.

- Vacant land: Properties with no structures or have buildings with very little value. For purpose of the BLI, residential lands with improvement value less than \$10,000 are considered vacant. These lands were also subjected to review using aerial photography; and if the land is in a committed use such as a parking lot, an assessment has been made to determine if it is to be classified as vacant, part vacant or developed.
- **Partially vacant land:** Properties that are occupied by a use (e.g., a home or building structure with value over \$10,000) but have enough land to be subdivided without the need for rezoning. This determination is made using tax assessor records and aerial photography. For lots with existing buildings, it is assumed that ¹/₄ acre (10,890 sq. ft.) is retained by each existing home, and the remainder is included in the part vacant land inventory.
- Vacant Undersized: Properties that are vacant or part-vacant with less than 3,000 sq. ft. of land area. This category is excluded from the vacant land inventory since these lots are not likely large enough to accommodate new housing units. However, it is possible that some may be suitable for accessory dwelling units (ADUs).
- **Developed & Non-Residential Land Base:** Properties unlikely to yield additional residential development for one of two reasons: they possess existing building structures at densities that are unlikely to redevelop over the planning period; or they include parcels with Comprehensive Land Use Plan designations that do not permit housing development.
- **Public and Constrained (unbuildable) land**: Properties which are regarded as unlikely to be developed because they are restricted by existing uses such as: public parks, schools, ballfields, roads and public right-of-way (ROW); common areas held by Homeowners Associations, cemeteries; and power substations. In cases where public-owned land does not fall into one of the above-mentioned categories and is planned or zoned to allow housing, those tax lots are included in the vacant or part-vacant residential land inventory.

These tax lot classifications were validated using aerial photos, building permit data, and assessor records. Preliminary results were refined based on City staff and public input received during the Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) planning process.

Development Constraints

The BLI methodology for identifying and removing development constraints is consistent with state guidance on buildable land inventories per OAR 660-008-0005(2). By definition, the BLI is intended to include land that is "suitable, available, and necessary for residential uses."

"Buildable Land" includes residential designated land within the UGB, including vacant, part vacant and land that is likely to be redeveloped; and suitable, available and necessary for residential uses. Public-owned land is generally not considered to be available for residential use unless the underlying zoning permits housing.



Land is considered to be "suitable and available" unless it:

- Is severely constrained by natural hazards as determined by the Statewide Planning Goal 7;
- Is subject to natural resource protection measures determined under Statewide Planning Goals 5, 6, 15, 16, 17 or 18;
- Has slopes over 25 percent;
- Is within the 100-year flood plain; or
- Cannot be provided or served with public facilities (no land was identified in this category³).

Based on state guidelines and data provided by the City of Woodburn, the following constraints have been deducted from the residential lands inventory.

- Land within waterbodies and floodways. Lands identified within waterbodies and floodways per the FEMA FIRM maps.
- Land within floodplains. This includes lands in flood-hazard areas (the 100-year floodplain).
- Land within wetlands. This includes areas identified as significant wetlands in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan.
- Land within natural resource protection measures. This includes riparian wetland overlay districts that are identified in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan.
- Land with slopes greater than 25%. However, no land was identified as having steep slopes.

Exhibits 3.3-3.5 illustrate these types of "environmental" constraints.

³ This conclusion is based upon the 2005 Woodburn Public Facilities Plan (http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/%2810-31%29052005PublicFacilitiesPlan.pdf)



page 30



Exhibit 3.3. Floodplains and Floodways



Exhibit 3.4. Wetlands





Exhibit 3.5. Riparian Wetlands Overlay District



Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results

Land Base

As noted above, the residential land base for the BLI includes all tax lots in the UGB with residential, commercial and mixed-use land use designations. A summary of the land base by generalized plan designation is provided in **Exhibit 3.6**. The findings indicate that there are 13,003 tax lots in the land base with 2,900 gross acres.

	Number		Total Gross	
Generalized Plan Designation	of Taxlots	Percent	Acres	Percent
Low-Density Residential	5,506	42%	1,988	69%
Medium-Density Residential	671	5%	459	16%
High-Density Residential	-	0%	-	0%
Commercial/Mixed Use	6,826	52%	454	16%
Total	13,003	100%	2,900	100%

Exhibit 3.6: Gross Acreage in Residential Land Base, Woodburn UGB

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

Development Status

Before the deduction of environmental constraints, the residential land base has been classified by development status to estimate land that is "committed" and not likely to be developed for additional residential uses. These definitions include residential land that is developed, tax lots that exempt residential development, public-ownership, and public right-of-way⁴, as described previously (results are summarized in **Exhibit 3.7**).

Exhibit 3.7: Residential land base before environmental constraints are applied, Woodburn UGB

	Acres on			Developed, non-residential and other constrained			
	Acres on	Part-	Total Vacant	Developed or			Total
	Vacant	Vacant	& Part-Vacant	Non-Res Land	Public/	Undersized (less	Committed
Generalized Plan Designation	Taxlots	Taxlots	Acres	Base	Unbuildable	than 3,000 SF)	Acres
Low-Density Residential	431	162	593	1,340	55	0.90	1,396
Medium-Density Residential	121	46	167	284	8	0.17	292
High-Density Residential	-	-	-	-	0	0.00	-
Commercial/Mixed Use	105	12	117	335	2	0.00	337
Total	658	219	876	1,960	64	1.07	2,025

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

⁴ Includes right-of-way that is defined as a tax lot in the GIS database, which exempts residential development. This includes most major existing right-of-way which is excluded from the buildable land base.



Buildable Land after Constraints and Public Facilities

The BLI methodology calculates the residential land base after accounting for the environmental constraints (described in the prior section), and future public facilities (e.g., streets and roads, parks and school facilities) per safe harbor assumptions allowed under OAR 660-024-0040 (10).⁵ The findings indicate that out of a total of 2,900 gross acres, 2,025 acres are committed, and 90 acres are environmentally constrained (see **Exhibit 3.8**).

Approximately 75% of the buildable land inventory is classified as vacant and 25% is classified as partially vacant land.

After allowing for future public facilities and future right-of-way, there are 607 net buildable acres within the vacant and part vacant land inventory. This includes 420 acres with low-density plan designations, 115 acres with medium-density designations, no explicit high-density designations and 72 acres in commercial and mixed-use designations (see **Exhibit 3.8**).

Exhibit 3.8: Vacant and Part-Vacant Residential land base after all constraints, Woodburn UGB, 2019

			Env.		Less Future	
	Total Co	ommitted	Constrained		Public	Net Buildable
Generalized Plan Designation	Acres	Acres	Acres	Buildable Acres	Facilities*	Acres
Low-Density Residential	1,988	1,396	31	560	140	420
Medium-Density Residential	459	292	13	153	38	115
High-Density Residential	-	-	-	-	-	-
Commercial/Mixed Use	454	337	45	72	-	72
Total	2,900	2,025	90	785	178	607

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

* assumes 25% of builable low and medium densitiy land area is utilized for future public facilities.

Commercial and Mixed-Use Land Assumptions

It should be noted that all vacant and part-vacant commercial and mixed-use land (72 acres in total) is included in the table above. This land was included because housing development is a permitted use (i.e. it is allowed) on land with commercial and mixed-use zoning. However, since most commercial and mixed-use zoned land area will be developed for non-residential use (e.g., retail, services, office, etc.), it is assumed by the City of Woodburn that 35% of the commercial and mixed-use land area will be developed as housing over the next 20 years. That assumption will be reflected in the "Residential BLI Results" section of this report below.



⁵ The Woodburn buildable land inventory assumes that 25% of the net buildable land area contained in the lowdensity and medium-density residential land base is allotted to future land needs for roads, parks and school facilities.

Redevelopment Areas

In accordance with OAR 660-024-0050, FCS GROUP also considered "redevelopable" lands, defined as follows by OAR 660-008-0005(7):

"Redevelopable Land" means land zoned for residential use on which development has already occurred but on which, due to present or expected market forces, there exists the strong likelihood that existing development will be converted to more intensive residential uses during the planning period."

Given the unpredictable nature of real estate development, especially as it relates to residential redevelopment projects resulting in demolition and replacement of existing structures and development of net new housing units, the following broad-based methodology was used to estimate redevelopment potential in Woodburn:

- To comply with the redevelopment definition above, the Woodburn buildable land inventory includes an analysis of developed residential/commercial & mixed-use properties that have existing structures and are located within the Woodburn UGB.
- In order to sharpen the focus on land most likely to "be converted to more intensive residential use during the planning period", the redevelopment land inventory includes: tax lots with over 10,890 square feet (1/4 acre) of buildable land area; and tax lots with "land values" that are greater than "improvement values" based on current county assessor records. As a proxy for "present or expected market forces" which will drive redevelopment, these remaining properties were considered the universe of "redevelopable" lands.
- Like the analysis of vacant and part-vacant lands described in preceding sections, "redevelopable" lands were by low, medium, high density residential and commercial/mixeduse categories based on their underlying comprehensive plan and zoning classifications, and environmental constraints were removed to determine net buildable land area.
- Finally, this analysis assumes a rate of redevelopment which results in net new housing of the properties identified above. Woodburn planning staff recommended a rate of 3% based on redevelopment activity observed in the past. This factor was applied to the total universe of redevelopment land area to determine the net redevelopable land to be included in the Woodburn residential buildable land inventory (**Exhibit 3.9**).

			Environmental		Redevelopable
Land Classification	Taxlots	Map Acres	Constraints	Net Lot Acres	Acres*
Low Density	53	182.3	23.0	159.3	4.8
Medium Density	22	28.9	0.1	28.8	0.9
High Density	0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Commercial and Mixed Use	79	95.3	0.0	95.3	2.9
Grand Total	154	306.5	23.1	283.4	8.5

Exhibit 3.9: Redevelopable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019

Source: City of Woodburn GIS data, FCS GROUP analysis.

*Assumes a 3% redevelopment rate per City Staff.



Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory

The combination of vacant, partially vacant and redevelopable land area for the residential and commercial/mixed use classifications results in the total Woodburn residential buildable land inventory. The sum of all categories provides 567.1 acres of buildable residential land within the Woodburn UGB. As shown in **Exhibit 3.10** this is primarily made up of 425.1 acres of low-density land (420 acres of vacant land and 4.8 acres of redevelopable land); and 115.9 acres of medium-density land (115 acres of vacant and 0.9 acres of redevelopable land). The commercial and mixed-use land area expected for housing includes 26.1 acres (71.6 net acres of vacant land plus 2.9 acres of redevelopment land) multiplied by the 35% housing conversion factor.⁶

Total Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB						
	Vacant &	Redevel-	Housing Use	Total Buildable		
	Part	opable	Factor	Residential		
Land Classification	Vacant	Land	Assumption_	Land		
Low Density	420.3	4.8	100%	425.1		
Medium Density	115.1	0.9	100%	115.9		
High Density	-	0.0	100%	-		
Commercial and Mixed Use	71.6	2.9	35%	26.1		
Grand Total	607.0	8.5	-	567.1		

Exhibit 3.10: Summary of Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019

Source: City of Woodburn Buildable Land Inventory analysis, June 2019.

Exhibits 3.11 and 3.12 illustrate the buildable vacant and partially vacant buildable land areas for the residential and commercial/mixed-use land base within the Woodburn UGB.



⁶ Estimate of residential land use within commercial and mixed-use zones provided by City of Woodburn planning staff based on prior and pending land use plan applications as of June 14, 2019.



Exhibit 3.11: Residential Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019



Exhibit 3.12: Commercial and Mixed-Use Buildable Land Inventory, Woodburn UGB, 2019



Section IV. LAND NEEDS

RECONCILIATION

This section provides an estimate of residential development capacity (measured in new dwelling units) and an estimate of Woodburn's ability to accommodate needed new housing units for the 2019 to 2039 period, based on the findings of the housing needs analysis.

A comparison of 20-year residential land needs (demand) is made relative to the residential buildable land inventory. This provides a means of reconciling housing land demand with buildable land supply within the UGB.

Residential Land Needs Forecast Methods

Determining residential land needs requires converting the number of housing units into net acres of land area. This requires an understanding of local development code allowed housing types and density levels, which are grouped into low, medium and high-density levels. As shown previously in Exhibit 2.28, the range of allowable densities and average expected housing density is expressed in dwelling units per acre.

Development density (measured in terms of dwelling units per net buildable acre of land area) along with projected housing demand is used to calculate residential land needs. As indicated in **Appendix A**, the Woodburn development code allows a range in development densities depending upon residential and commercial and mixed-use land use zones. City of Woodburn planning staff has estimated average densities for each zone type based on current development permitting activity and their professional judgement.

Housing Forecast and Residential Land Needs Methods

The HNA planning process included three housing forecast methods.

- Method 1, reflects a "safe harbor" housing forecast and related land needs scenario.
- Method 2, reflects the baseline housing forecast with local density assumptions.
- Method 3 (Hybrid), includes the recommended housing forecast and related land needs based on local density assumptions.

"Safe harbor" means an optional course of action that a local government may use to satisfy a requirement of Goal 14 (urbanization); and if the city needs to expand their urban growth boundary, a safe harbor analysis lends protections from appeals on certain elements. A safe harbor is not the only way or necessarily the preferred way to comply with the requirements of a housing needs analysis. It was employed for the city of Woodburn as an alternative way of looking at residential land need scenarios for the 20 year forecast.



Safe Harbor Method

The steps taken to determine land needs using the safe harbor provisions include the following guidelines contained in OAR 660-024-0040(1)-(8).

Coordinated Population Growth Forecast

The land needs determination for a potential UGB expansion must be based upon the coordinated population growth forecast for the urban area as determined under rules in OAR-660-032. For this analysis, the 20-year planning period is 2019-2039.

According to Portland State University population growth forecast, the population within the Woodburn UGB is projected to increase from 26,965 to 35,810, resulting in 8,845 net new residents by year 2039.

Average Household Size

Relevant findings regarding specific requirements include:

(a) A local government may estimate persons per household for the 20-year planning period using the persons per household for the urban area indicated in the most current data for the urban area published by the U.S. Census Bureau.

The most current estimate of persons per household in the City of Woodburn is 3.15 per U.S. Census, American Community Survey: 2013-2017 estimates.

Local Development Code Provisions

Relevant findings regarding specific requirements include:

(b) If a local government does not regulate government-assisted housing differently than other housing types, it is not required to estimate the need for government-assisted housing as a separate housing type.

Woodburn does not regulate government assisted housing differently than other housing types.

(c) If a local government allows manufactured homes on individual lots as a permitted use in all residential zones that allow 10 or fewer dwelling units per net buildable acre, it is not necessary to provide an estimate of the need for manufactured dwellings on individual lots.

Woodburn allows manufactured homes on individual lots as a permitted use in all residential zones that permit fewer than 10 dwelling units per net buildable acre, subject to development standards.

(d) If a local government allows manufactured dwelling parks required by ORS 197.475 to 197.490 in all areas planned and zoned for a residential density of six to 12 units per acre, a separate estimate of the need for manufactured dwelling parks is not required.

Woodburn allows manufactured dwelling parks in all zones which permit 4 to 7 dwelling units per acre.

Housing Vacancy Rate Assumptions

(e) A local government outside of the Metro boundary may estimate its housing vacancy rate for the 20-year planning period using the vacancy rate in the most current data published by the U.S. Census Bureau for that urban area that includes the local government.



The most current estimate of overall housing vacancy in the City of Woodburn is 4.4% per U.S. Census, American Community Survey, 2013-2017 estimates.

Method 1: Safe Harbor Housing Mix and Density Method

This method is described in OAR 660-024-0040(8)(f) and "Table 1" from the rule. According to the rule, Woodburn is grouped into the category of cities with a population over 25,000.

As indicated in **Exhibit 4.1**, this method assumes 2,932 net new dwelling units, with a required mix as follows: 50% low-density, 25% medium-density, and 25% high-density.

This method requires an overall (citywide) minimum density within residential base zones of: 6 dwellings per net acre; 8 dwellings/acre for UGB analysis; and the city must allow at least 10 units per acre overall (citywide) on its buildable residential land base.

Land needs are determined by dividing the housing need forecast (2,932 dwellings) by 8 dwellings per acre, which results in a potential UGB residential land need of 366 net buildable acres. The Woodburn UGB Buildable Land Inventory analysis determined that the UGB currently has 543 net buildable acres for future residential. Hence, the overall UGB would be sufficient to meet future demand.

Evhibit A

		11011 4.1		
	M	ethod 1		
Safe Harbor Combined Housing Mix and	Density Method	, Determination	n of Residenti	al Land Need, Woodburn UGB
	Factor	Finding	Units	Source Notes
1 Current Population Est. (2019)		26,965	population	Table A
2 Is Pop. Over 25,000?	Yes			
3 20-Yr Population Change		8,845		Table A
4 Population in Group Quarters	0.7%	60	population	Table B
Group quarters units	3.0	20	dwelling units	allowance
5 Population in Households		8,786	population	calculation
6 Average Household Size	3.15			Table B
7 Number of Households		2,789	households	calculation
8 Vacancy Factor	4.4%	123	dwellings	Table C
9 Dwelling Units Added		2,932	dwellings	
10 Dwelling Mix Safe Harbor	Percent	Dwellings		
Low Density Residential ¹	50%	1,466	dwellings	see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
Medium Density Residential ²	25%	733	dwellings	see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
High Density Residential	25%	733	dwellings	see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
Total	100%	2,932	dwellings	calculation
11 Dwelling Unit Density Requirements	DU/Net Acre ³	UGB Land		
		Need Net Acres		
Required overall minimum	6			see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
Assume for UGB analysis	8	366	net acres	see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
Zone to Allow	10			see OAR 660-024-0040(f)
¹ Includes single family detached dwelling	s, manufactured	homes and mob	ile homes.	

² Includes townhomes, plexes and group quarters units.

³ Analysis consistent with OAR 60-024-0040(f). This applies to all residential zones within the City and UGB.



Method 2: Baseline Housing Need Forecast Method

This method includes emerging market trends and forecasts derived from Section 2 and assumes that the average household size declines slightly over the next 20 years. This is done in order to reflect national trends of shrinking household sizes (in large part due to the increasing share of empty nesters and retirees), as well as a recognition that the 3.15 average household size figure derived from the 2017 American Community Survey is the highest observed of any year from 2009 to 2017. The average household size figure in method two moves from 3.15 (current) to 3.07 (future) people per dwelling unit. This results in a housing forecast of 3,012 dwelling units. But unlike the preceding method, this approach takes into account the expected average development density levels based on local market activity and City of Woodburn planning staff assumptions.

The housing mix is as follows: 60.6% low density, 7.0% manufactured housing, 10.6% townhomes/plexes, 10.9% garden apartments, and 10.9% higher-density apartments. Land needs are determined by dividing the housing needs by the average density assumptions as follows:

- Low density: 1,824 dwellings ÷ 6 units/acre = 304 acres
- Mfg. housing (or small lot cottages): 210 dwellings ÷ 8 units/acre = 26 acres
- Medium density townhomes/plexes: 320 dwellings ÷ 12 units/acre = 27 acres
- Medium density garden court apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 16 units/acre = 21 acres
- Higher density apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 31 units/acre = 11 acres

Total land requirements equates to 388 net buildable acres (see Exhibit 4.2).

Exhibit 4.2

	Baseline Housing Ne	ed Forecast, Wo	odburn UGB
			Source Notes
1 Future Housing Need	Net New Dwellings Expected	Housina Mix	
Low Density Residential ¹		J	
Single family detached	1.824	60.6%	Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings
Manufactured Housing	210	7.0%	Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings
Medium Density Residential ²			J. J
Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs	320	10.6%	Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings
Apartments (garden apts.)	329	10.9%	Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings
Higher Density	329	10.9%	Woodburn HNA Task 2 findings
Total	3,012	100.0%	
	U	GB Land Need	
	2	(Net Acres)	
2 Expected Housing Density	DUs per acre °		
Low Density Residential ¹			
Single family detached	6.0	304	calculation
Manufactured Housing	8.0	26	calculation
Medium Density Residential ²			
Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs	12.0	27	calculation
Apartments (garden apts.)	16.0	21	calculation
Higher Density	31.0	11	calculation
Total/Average	7.8	388	calculation
¹ Includes single family detached dwellings, r	nanufactured homes	and mobile home	es.
² Includes townhomes, plexes and group qua	rters units.		
2			

³ Density estimates derived from City of Woodburn planning staff, June 2019.



Method 3 (Hybrid): Recommended Housing Need Forecast Method

The HNA Advisory Committee and Planning Commission reviewed and discussed the baseline housing forecast and considered current multifamily market gaps described in Section 2. As such, Method 3 was generated to address housing attainability needs and emerging multifamily development opportunities.

Method 3 assumes that the total housing demand required to address population growth is consistent with the overall baseline housing forecast (Method 2) of 3,012 dwelling units. However, the expected medium and high-density housing mix is expected to be like Method 1. Medium and high-density housing has been allocated among three housing types: townhomes/plexes; garden apartments, and higher-density apartments. This results in a net new housing mix as follows: 51.9% low density, 10.6% townhomes/plexes, 10.9% garden apartments, and 26.6% higher density apartments.

Land needs are determined by dividing the housing need forecast by the average density assumptions as follows:

- Low density (includes single family detached and mfg. housing): 1,563 dwellings ÷ 6 units/acre = 261 acres
- Medium density townhomes/plexes: 320 dwellings ÷ 12 units/acre = 27 acres
- Medium density garden apts.: 329 dwellings ÷ 16 units/acre = 21 acres
- Higher density apts.: 800 dwellings ÷ 31 units/acre = 26 acres

Total land requirements equates to 334 net buildable acres (see Exhibit 4.3).

Exhibit 4.3

Recommended Ho	using Mix and Res	idential Land N	eeds, Woodburn UGB
			Source Notes
1 Future Housing Need	Net New Dwellings Expected	Housing Mix	
Low Density Residential ¹	1,563	51.9%	Balance of baseline total dwelling demand forecast
Medium Density Residential ²			
Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs	320	10.6%	Method 2
Apartments (garden apts.)	329	10.9%	Method 2
Higher Density	800	26.6%	estimate based on pipline projects
Total	3,012	100%	
2 Expected Housing Density	L DUs per acre ³	JGB Land Need (Net Acres)	
Low Density Residential ¹	6.0	261	calculation
Medium Density Residential ²			
Townhomes, Plexes, ADUs	12.0	27	calculation
Apartments (garden apts.)	16.0	21	calculation
Higher Density	31.0	26	calculation
Total/Average	9.0	334	calculation
¹ Includes single family detached dwellir	ngs, manufactured	homes and mol	pile homes.
² Includes townhomes, plexes and group	quarters units.		
³ Density estimates derived from City of	Woodburn plannin	ng staff, June 20	19.



Reconciliation of Land Supply and Demand

A comparison of the 20-year residential land needs (demand) is made relative to the residential buildable land inventory. This provides a means of reconciling residential land demand with the existing buildable land within the Woodburn UGB.

The reconciliation of UGB residential land need and land supply is summarized below. The results indicate that with the recommended housing forecast (Method 3), the Woodburn UGB would plan for 3,012 net new dwellings over the next 20 years. Based on the three methods evaluated, this would require between 333.5 acres (Method 3) and 366.5 acres (Method 1) of net land area. As the Buildable Land Inventory shows the residential land supply to be 567.1 acres, the overall UGB is sufficient to address the 20-year housing need forecast (see **Exhibit 4.4**).

Exhibit 4.4

Reconcilation of Residential Land Need, Woodburn UGB			Recommended
	Method 1:	Method 2:	Method 3:
	safe harbor	baseline	recommended
	housing mix	housing mix	housing mix
Dwellings/Units			
Low Density ¹	1,466	2,034	1,563
Medium Density ²	733	649	649
Higher Density	733	329	800
Total	2,932	3,012	3,012
Land Need (net acres)			
Low Density ¹		330.2	260.5
Medium Density ²		47.2	47.2
Higher Density		10.6	25.8
Total	366.5	388.1	333.5
Buildable Land Inventory (net acres)			
Low Density Residential ¹	425.1	425.1	425.1
Medium Density Residential ²	115.9	115.9	115.9
Higher Density Residential (Commercial & Mixed Use zones) ³	26.1	26.1	26.1
Total	567.1	567.1	567.1
UGB Land Surplus/Deficit (net acres)			
Low Density ¹		94.8	164.6
Medium Density ²		68.7	68.7
Higher Density Residential (Commercial & Mixed Use zones) ³		15.5	0.3
Total	200.6	179.0	233.5
Adequacy of UGB to meet housing need	adequate	adequate	adequate
¹ Includes single family detached dwellings, manufactured	homes and mo	bile homes.	
2		•.	

² Includes townhomes, plexes, garden-court apartments, and group quarters units.

³ Includes higher density apartments. The phrase "high density" derives from OAR 660-038-0060 and applies to existing zoning districts allowing what Woodburn terms "medium" density of 16 or more units per acre: RMN, DDC, CO, CG, NNC, & MUV.



Woodburn UGB Sufficiency Analysis

The reconciliation analysis also indicates that the UGB has a surplus supply of low-density (94.8-164.6 acres) and medium-density zoned buildable land (68.7 acres) to meet projected residential land needs for single family detached, manufactured housing, townhomes, duplex and garden apartment housing needs.

The findings indicate that the 20-year land need for higher-density apartments exceeds the buildable land inventory for the RMN zone by 38 acres. This deficit could be accommodated within the remaining surplus supply of medium density zones (including the RM zone which currently limits development density to 16 units per acre) and/or some of the vacant commercial buildable lands (which include a total of 72 net buildable acres (according to the Woodburn HNA Buildable Land Inventory, May 2019).

In review of the <u>2001 Economic Opportunities Analysis for the city of Woodburn</u> the demand for commercial land over the 1999-2020 time exceeded the vacant commercial buildable land supply (146 acres). To respond to the need, on December 14, 2015, the city and Marion County jointly approved a remanded and amended version of the Woodburn UGB, which included an additional 23 acres of commercial land.

In conclusion, to fully address high-density land needs, the city will need to identify policy measures to ensure that the forecasted demand for 800 higher density apartments/condos can be accommodated within the UGB. The city can meet this demand on a portion of remaining vacant or redevelopable low or medium density zoned land and vacant commercial zoned land. In order to reduce the conversion of vacant commercial zoned land to higher density apartments, the city may also consider rezoning up to 10 acres of vacant RM land to allow higher densities (e.g., increase allowable density from 16 to 24 units per acre) when certain objective standards are met (e.g., site size/configuration/access, proximity to public transit, etc.) to address the higher density multifamily housing needs.



Section V. Key FINDINGS AND

Recommendations

KEY FINDINGS FROM THE HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS

- Based on the population growth forecasts for the Woodburn UGB (20-year population growth of 8,845 people) and housing and demographic characteristics, the baseline housing needs forecast plans for 3,012 net new dwelling units. A variety of housing is needed over the next 20 years, including 1,322 owner-occupied dwellings and 1,690 renter-occupied dwellings.
- Woodburn's existing policies generally comply with Goal 10. The local development code allows a wide mix of housing types and density ranges (see Appendix A).
- There is sufficient capacity within the current UGB to accommodate planned residential development and related land needs over the next 20 years. The current UGB contains 567 acres of buildable residential land inventory, and residential land needs are forecasted to require 333.5 acres based on the recommended housing mix.
- Woodburn has a need for additional affordable housing. Woodburn has a current unmet need for affordable rental housing and the citywide rental vacancy rate of 3% is very low compared with other communities in Oregon. Also, 26% of renter households in Woodburn are severely rent burdened.

RECCOMMENDED HOUSING ACTIONS

The City will need to optimize the available land within the UGB by considering the following:

- 1. Continue to encourage medium and high-density development within RM, RMN, DDC, NNC, MUV and appropriate sites within the CO and CG zones.
- 2. Consider amendments to development code standards regarding setbacks, parking requirements, etc. to ensure full utilization of vacant land for future development.
- 3. Consider and adopt development code amendments that encourage infill within residential zones and redevelopment within commercial and mixed-use zones.
- 4. In order to reduce the conversion of vacant commercial zoned land to higher density apartments, the city may also consider rezoning up to 10 acres of vacant or redevelopable low or medium density residential land to allow higher densities (e.g., increase allowable density from 16 to 24 units per acre) when certain objective standards are met (e.g., site size/configuration/access, proximity to public transit, etc.) to address the higher density multifamily housing needs.



To help encourage or incentivize construction of affordable housing priced at 80% or below of the median family income levels, the City should consider the following:

- 5. Identify public-owned properties that could be used for affordable housing.
- 6. Partner with local housing authorities or non-profit housing developers to provide offsite infrastructure (sewer, water, road improvements) or parking that supports affordable housing development.
- 7. Prepare a sliding scale system of System Development Charges (SDCs) which would provide charges that vary by home size and type.
- 8. Provide policies that allow SDC deferrals for affordable housing developments until a certificate of occupancy is granted.
- 9. Develop a tax abatement program, such as the multiple-unit limited tax exemption program, to promote development of affordable housing.
- 10. Consider establishing a local affordable housing construction excise tax to be used to incentivize development of income restricted housing.

Further policies have been recommended, however, due to the limited timeframe of this project, these policies have not been reviewed and approved by the Woodburn Planning Commission. Policies outlined in Appendix B will be discussed with the Planning Commission, refined based on Planning Commission input and summarized in a housing strategies report to follow.





APPENDIX A: EXISTING DEV. CODE

Woodburn HNA Residential Density Assumptions

City	General HNA Classification	Description	Allowed Dwelling Units/Acre	Expected Avg. Net Housing Density*
RS	Low density	Residential Single Family	Minimum: 5.2 units/acre - 7.26	6.0
R1S	Low density	Retirement Community Single Family Res.	(Comprehensive Plan Policy Table 1) Minimum: none; max of 12.1 units/acre	0**
RSN	Low density	Nodal Single Family Residential	7.9 units/acre to 10.89 units/acre (Policy Table 1)	9.9
RM	Medium density	Medium Density Residential	10 units/acre to 16 units/acre (Policy Table 1)	15
RMN	High density	Nodal Multi-family Residential	10 units/acre to 22 units/acre (Policy Table 1)	18
DDC	High density	Downtown Development & Conservation	Row house: minimum 12, max of 16 units/acre; Multi-family: no minimum, no max (WDO Table 2.03B)	26
СО	High density	Commercial Office	Stand-alone multi-family: 12 minimum, no max; In mixed-use development: no minimum, max 32 units/acre (WDO Table 2 030)	31
CG	High density	Commercial General	Row house: minimum 12, max of 24 units/acre; Stand-alone multi-family: 12 minimum, max 32 units/acre; In mixed-use development: no minimum, max 32 units/acre (WDO Table 2.03C)	31
NNC	High density	Nodal Neighborhood Commercial	Row house: minimum 20, no max; Multi-family: minimum 19, no max (WDO Table 2.03F)	18
MUV	High density	Mixed Use Village	Row house: minimum 12, max 32 units/acre; Stand-alone multi-family: 12 minimum, max 32 units/acre; In mixed-use development: no minimum, max 32 units/acre (WDO Table 2.03E)	20.9

* Expected average housing density per net buildable acre on land used for residential development, based on Woodburn city planning staff estimates.

**The R1S zone is limited to a cluster of retirement single-family subdivisions (Woodburn Golf & Estates) that are fully developed and were developed mostly in the 1960s. The City does not intend to designate this zoning district to additional property or developments because the purpose of the zone is to accommodate existing development that pre-dates the minimum lot sizes and setbacks and maximum lot coverages of the Woodburn Zoning Ordinance (WZO; 1973) and the WDO (2002 through present). Therefore, the existing built density of the R1S zone, whatever it is, will remain as is.



. . .

APPENDIX B: DRAFT POLICIES AND

ACTIONS

The City of Woodburn has several existing housing-related policies in the Comprehensive Plan that will be revisited as part of the HNA update.

This section identifies and recommends measures to help address Woodburn's housing needs, and are divided into three categories:

(1) First priority measures that amend the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) which serves as the main regulatory tool of the City;

(2) Long-term actions outside the WDO; and

(3) Amendment and addition of Comprehensive Plan policies.

Overall Housing Objectives

- A. Streamline the WDO to increase amount and rate of housing production, thereby improving housing availability and affordability.
- B. Induce more development infill (minor partitions) through many "small projects" of varied housing types (houses, accessory dwellings units, duplexes, and "cottage clusters") to allow for gentle, incremental change to neighborhoods and to accommodate changes in household sizes across people's lives (e.g., as households desire to "age in place"). Supporting infill development makes use of existing infrastructure capacity and reduces or defers the need to make costly capital investments on new and extended infrastructure, thereby limiting the level of housing costs that get passed on to buyers and renters.
- C. Reduce household housing combined costs by reducing transportation costs as well as housing costs.
- D. Consider and adopt a number of long-range measures above and beyond the WDO in a manner that preserves the character of the city and helps achieve a high quality of life.

First Priority: WDO Amendments

The City should adopt the following strategies listed in order of effectiveness:

Part One

1. Reduce off-street parking ratios, especially for multi-family dwellings. For multi-family within 500 feet of a bus stop measured along street and off-street measured along street and off-street bicycle/walking path centerlines, allow roughly 10% less to mimic the 10% transit reduction for shared parking in WDO 3.05.05A3.

For single-family within 500 feet, allow houses to have 1 stall.



A. Multi-family Preferred: Reduce from 2.0 parking spaces per multi-family dwelling to 1 per studio, 1.25 per one-bedroom, 1.5 per two-bedroom, and 1.75 for three or more bedrooms. Require a small number of visitor stalls for projects of many dwellings.

B. Multi-family Alternative: Reduce from 2.0 parking spaces per multi-family dwelling to the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Transportation Planning Handbook recommended ratios of 1.25 per studio, 1.5 per one-bedroom, and 2.0 for two or more bedrooms.

- 2. Unbundle parking from rent. To provide for social equity and to prevent parking displacement, require that instead of recouping the costs of parking from multi-family rent, landowners if recouping must charge a separate and uniform parking rent and only to tenants who choose to park vehicles on site. A uniform rent means not charging tiered rents for garage stalls, carport stalls, reserved stalls, and open air stalls because tiers would incentivize garage and carport stalls to go empty while tenants would compete for remaining open air spaces and/or park on nearby streets. (Note: This could be in the WDO and/or a general City ordinance about multi-family housing.)
- 3. Reduce the side and rear setbacks for the RM and RMN zones (which are currently as much as 36 feet).
- 4. Allow carports as an alternative to the garages required for multi-family complexes and either eliminate the minimum coverage of parking or lower from 50%.
- 5. Require developers to improve bus stops through WDO 3.01. (Notes: The target adoption date for this measure is either October 2019 or the same as adoption of the Transportation System Plan Update whatever is earliest. The measure would boost Long-Range Measure 2 below about a transit SDC.)
- 6. Require more bicycle parking for multi-family developments, at least one per dwelling, and eliminate the bicycle parking maximum.
- 7. Decrease single-family minimum interior lot size from 6,000 to 5,000 sq. feet and the corner lot size from 8,000 to 5,500 sq. feet and allow the longer of two street frontages to be set back fewer than the 20 feet required for a front yard (12 feet).
- 8. Facilitate duplexes: Allow duplexes on interior lots, not just corner lots, and eliminate or reduce larger lot size requirements with duplexes (currently 10,000 sq. feet in RS/RSN, 8,000 in RM/RMN).
- 9. Increase or remove maximum lot coverages for single-family lots.
- 10. Narrow minimum driveway, drive aisle, and alley widths to be consistent with minimums in Appendix D of Oregon Fire Code.
- 11. Remove the accessory dwelling unit (ADU) owner occupancy requirement; and for houses in the DDC zone remove the conflict between the current DDC requirements of no off-street parking with the one-stall requirement for an ADU by not requiring ADU parking in the DDC.
- 12. Remove architectural provisions for multi-family buildings that require building walls and rooflines to jog arbitrarily, which adds to construction costs and fails to achieve positive design features.
- 13. Allow subcompact parking stalls (up to 5%), allow a higher percentage of compact parking stalls (60%), and require a minimum amount/percentage to be compact.



- 14. Require new houses that are one story to have both minimum roof pitch of 12:12 and attic trusses to allow for later interior remodels into habitable finished attics.
- 15. Tailor single-family lot development standards so as to not burden owners of historical platted lots in central Woodburn that pre-date zoning and are typically narrower and/or smaller (5,000 sq. feet). Allow reduced setbacks and increased lot coverages in central Woodburn for houses, accessory dwelling units, and duplexes.
- 16. Help tenants weather heat waves in new multi-family dwellings unlikely to have cooling as well as heating by requiring minimum finished ceiling heights of 9 feet to allow heat to pool above head height, requiring rooms along the outside walls of dwellings to have operable windows to vent heat, and requiring all operable windows to have screens to keep insects out. (Tenants would less likely need to buy individual portable or window AC units.)
- 17. Lower the off-street parking maximum, currently whatever is twice the minimum (200%), to allow 5% excess parking and allow request for more excess through Zoning Adjustment and Variance.
- Allow deferral of up to 50% of required off-street parking through an open space reserve. If remaining parking proves needed as conditioned, developer would construct it on reserve area. (Palo Alto Municipal Code 18.52.050(b) "Deferral of Meeting Full Requirement by Landscape Reserve")
- 19. Revise the WDO shared parking allowance to allow actual reduction of minimum ratios.
- 20. Remove from multi-family zoning and development the requirement for a buffer Architectural Wall where adjacent to a different zoning district or development of a different land use(s).

Part Two

21. Create and incentivize provisions for single-family developments to take the form of "cottage courts" or "pocket neighborhoods", with small houses ideal for starter and retired households, an outdoor commons, a communal building (such as a clubhouse or commercial kitchen) and pooled and shared off-street parking.

Long-Term Measures

Part Three

The City should resolve to adopt the following measures:

A. Implement a City *construction excise tax (CET)* to fund affordable housing through City capital improvement projects (any of land acquisition, building rehabilitation, and new construction) and to provide seed money for independent <u>community land trusts</u> (CLTs). Oregon law allows up to 1.0% of building permit valuation for projects of \$100,000 or more (2016 Senate Bill 1533 Enrolled). Target adoption date: October 2019.

1(a): If and when recession occurs, spend accumulated CET funds on purchasing lower value, financially distressed properties from developers and landowners receptive to said purchase. Have a priority list of properties to acquire especially during recession.

1(b): Spend accumulated CET funds to build "<u>missing middle housing</u>" "product" for which there are few or no Woodburn new construction real estate "comparables", including small apartment courts (with 6 to 12 apartment units), triplexes, quadplexes, cottage courts, small



houses (1,000-1,800 sq. ft), live/work units (domicile above or adjacent to commercial space), and mixed use developments (e.g., apartments above shops). This would help meet market demand and provide "comps" to developers and real estate lenders that it's reasonable to build such products in Woodburn.

1(c): See Measure I below about piloting ADUs.

- B. Adopt a *transit system development charge (SDC)* to expand and improve the city bus system, including to install shelters at stops and expand fleet. (Note: Over time, better local transit would attract more residents from needing to own cars thereby allowing them to redirect family budgeting from cars to housing.) Target adoption date: February 2020. Apply the SDC towards Measure K1 below about public parking or revise the existing Traffic SDC to apply to Measure K1.
- C. Adopt "*inclusionary zoning*" standards for multifamily developments of a certain size (e.g., over 80 units) to provide a percentage of units (i.e., up to 20% per ORS <u>197</u>.309(5)) to be affordable to households that earn less than 80% of the median family income level. (This measure would necessitate ongoing documentation, inspection, and enforcement. The City could use the historic city hall at 550 N. 1st Street as a demonstration project because the City won a \$200,000 Oregon Main Street Revitalization grant to spend in collaboration with the property owner for the city's desire to see the building rehabbed. Though the rehab likely would not have more than 80 units, the City and property owner could reach a deal that a percentage of whatever number of units would be affordable.) Target adoption date: November 2020.
- D. Institute a *small developer training program*. Because many Woodburn small developers are homebuilders and contractors that lack ability of large firms to do well land use entitlement (architecture, engineering, surveying, and site planning), not just building dwellings, they are often stymied by conventional WDO and Public Works requirements. At the same time, small developments are an ideal way to meet Goal B. Through written packets and quarterly trainings, small developers can more often bring projects to fruition. The Portland chapter of the not-for-profit Incremental Development Alliance can assist the City. Target adoption date: October 2019.
- E. *Require percentage of ADUs* (as shadow dwellings) within new single-family subdivisions and partitions. Note: This works best if paired with Measure F below. Target adoption date: October 2019.
- F. Institute a *density bonus program* for both single and multi-family development. For example, if 15-20% of dwellings in new construction are sold or rented below a certain amount related to area median income and rents are kept low for a time certain period (e.g., 7 years), then the City would allow the number of single-family lots per acre to increase or the number of multi-family dwellings per acre to increase a moderate amount, e.g. 10-20%. (This measure would necessitate ongoing documentation, inspection, and possibly enforcement.) Note: Based on ORS 197.309(3), this is a means of implementation of Measure 1 above. Target adoption date: June 2020.
- G. Institute a Zero Energy Ready Home Bonus Program for single family homes. Encouraging development of affordable energy efficient homes with lower operating costs by recommending newly constructed residential buildings achieve at least equivalent performance levels with the



U. S. Department of Energy Zero Energy Ready Standard. Homes built to this standard would be eligible for reduced SDC fees and/or expedited planning review. Per EO 17-20 Oregon's state building code will be amended to require equivalent performance levels as the Zero Energy Ready Standard by October 1, 2023. Incentivizing early adoption will provide homeowners with high performing homes that are less expensive to maintain and homebuilders will gain valuable practice in learning how to meet the future building code. Energy Trust of Oregon also offers incentives and building science support to assist home builders in meeting these performance standards.

- H. *Reduce system development charges (SDCs) for ADUs, apartments and cottage homes.* Adopt new SDC methodology report or amendment to existing SDC methodology for transportation, water, sewer, parks, stormwater, etc. that results in a lower SDC for smaller dwellings including ADUs. For example, if SDCs for new ADUs are reduced by 50%, their construction would be more attractive to individual homeowners with small capital. Multifamily dwellings and cottage homes could also warrant a lower SDC, which would allow developers to deliver housing at a lower cost to the renter/home buyer. Target adoption date: July 2021.
- I. *Pilot construction program for 1-3 ADUs* by spending funds (possibly CET funds per Measure A above through ORS 197.309(3) and general funds) on creating one to three ADUs for qualified lots as a demonstration project with willing property owners. The ADUs could be created through any of interior remodels, additions, or new construction of outbuildings. The City could consider providing loans or grants for design and/or interior furnishings and use the ADUs for publicity, hosted events, and tours for a year. Then the City would allow the homeowners to retain the ADUs and rent them out. Current ADUs construction estimates range from \$40,000-\$50,000 for an attached unit and \$90,000-\$110,000 for an outbuilding.
- J. Pilot for one year to 18 months one "*tiny house*" *village* on City property. Then, as a zoning overlay, designate up to two locations in the city where "tiny houses" are allowed with clear and objective standards, such as in the Gateway District that covers the CG zone east of downtown or on marginal commercial lands in the Highway 99E corridor, and remaining large (2+ acre) residential parcels within central Woodburn such as houses of worship.
- K. Reduce transportation costs for residents by:
 - 1. *Reduce parking costs for households by managing parking as a public asset*. Specifically, outside the downtown and especially the commercial center of the Nodal Development Overlay, Gateway Overlay, and along Highway 99E including the Mixed Use Village zone, acquire additional sites for new public parking garages and lots. Allow nearby private developments to share by their buying into or renting stalls to fulfill some or all of the off-street parking minimums. As fleets transition to automated vehicles (AVs or driverless cars), parking demand drops, and car and ride share become in demand in Woodburn, the City can allow more development to make use of public off-street parking and manage the facilities as transit, car/ride share, and taxi regional hubs.

Look first to existing public sites with excess land or surface parking, such as Centennial Park or Woodburn district schools. Focus on leveraging commercial and multi-family developments. When: Begin by July 2020.

2. Conduct a study of various transportation services and cost reduction measures for qualifying low income households. This may include consideration of the costs and



benefits of operation of a jitney bus or ride share service, capping taxi fares, or assessing punitive fees on taxi operators to reduce predation on migrant laborer passengers who are unable to afford private cars to travel between the city and farms where the Woodburn bus does not reach. Note that existing Dial-a-Ride service is limited to the disabled and the elderly and typically within 3/4 mile of the bus line. (This measure would necessitate ongoing inspection and enforcement.) When: By November 2020.

- 3. Institute a fee in-lieu of off-street parking for some or all parking for a development. Combine with the item a. program above.
- 4. *Install electric vehicle fast charging stations* in City parking lots (city hall, parks, downtown lots) and partner with developers to install EV charging stalls conveniently close to local residents. Require multi-family developments to have at least two EV stalls and allow them to count them towards the off-street parking stall minimum. This would hasten fleet transition to cheaper to operate vehicles. When: By June 2020 or, for city hall, completion of city hall remodel whatever is earliest.
- 5. Require Electric Vehicle Ready Construction. Require parking structures for all newly constructed residential and commercial buildings are ready to support the installation of at least a level 2 EV charger. Making a building EV ready is simple during initial construction, but post-construction upgrades can be expensive. Per EO 17-20 Oregon's state building code will be amended to require all newly constructed residential and commercial buildings are ready to support the installation of at least a level 2 EV charger is state building code will be amended to require all newly constructed residential and commercial buildings are ready to support the installation of at least a level 2 EV charger by October 1, 2022.
- 6. Require Solar Ready Building Construction. Require commercial buildings and new homes be designed and built to accommodate the future installation of solar panels and equipment after construction is complete. Solar ready homes are built to allow for easier installation of a solar electric system when the homeowner is ready to invest in a system. By designing for a clear solar roof space, installing conduit from the attic to the electric panel, and leaving room for future components of a solar electric system, a Solar Ready project can decrease the installation cost of a system. Per EO 17-20 Oregon's state building code will be amended to require all newly constructed buildings will be ready for the installation of solar panels and related technologies by October 1, 2022.
- 7. *Require new and existing homes receive a Home Energy Score at their point of sale.* Home Energy Score systems help homeowners and homebuyers better understand a home's energy use, and how even small improvements can make a big difference in energy savings. The Oregon Department of Energy developed a standard home energy scoring system which is being utilized by the City of Portland.

Comprehensive Plan Policy Amendments

Amend text and policies:

Low Density Residential Lands

Low density residential areas are the most sensitive land use and must be intensively protected. In general they are not compatible with commercial and industrial uses and some type of buffering technique must be used to protect them. Also, arterials and other transportation corridors can severely affect the usefulness of low density residential areas. In general, low density residential areas have been located according to existing patterns of development and in areas which are protected from high traffic flows and



commercial and industrial uses. When greenways are used as buffers between other land uses and low density residential areas it is extremely important to maintain the visual and physical separation that the greenway provides. Small lot single-family residential development is appropriate in Nodal Development areas and may be allowed in Medium Density Residential areas. Small lot senior housing is encouraged adjacent to existing senior housing areas, in cottage clusters or pocket neighborhoods, and as part of infill development as described in Policy D-1.12.

Public Use

In addition to the four major types of land uses (medium density residential low density residential, commercial, and industrial), lands for public use are shown. These are lands, which are used or intended for use by governmental units, including lands which are currently owned by the City or School District. Future acquisition sites are not indicated, however, as this may affect the price the public would have to pay. In most cases, residential land is acquired for park and school use; for this reason, the Public Use category is considered as a "Residential Land Use". Because the location of these sites depends a great deal on price and availability, the City and School District will have to make decisions atas the time the acquisition is needed about the best location to acquire approaches.

Specifically, City and District representatives including councilors, board members, and staff should jointly plan long-range for additional school sites in the UGB, even if through executive sessions as allowed for real estate by Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 192.660(2)(e) and as the school board feels is warranted. The City should focus on siting additional civic buildings and parks and the District on additional schools upon applications for annexation of residential land within the UGB, multi-family development, mixed-use development that includes multi-family dwellings, and planned unit development (PUD). By the time of applications, the agencies should have already identified needed facilities and their target locations within the UGB.

The above would help make sure existing and future residents need not travel far to get to and from schools, parks, and other civic uses.

Section D Residential Land Use

D-1.10 High density residential areas should be located to minimize the possible deleterious effects on any adjacent low density residential development. When high density and lower density areas abut, densityheights should decrease in those high density areas immediately adjacent to low density residential land. Whenever possible, buffering should be practiced by such means as landscaping, and sight-obscuring fences and hedges, and increased setbacks. This policy does not apply in the Nodal Development Overlay, Gateway Overlay, or Mixed Use Village (MUV) zoning districtareas.



Additional Policy Actions

Section C2 Woodburn Fire District Coordination Goals and Policies

Goals

C2-1. To coordinate with the independent Woodburn Fire District and facilitate application of the Oregon Fire Code (OFC) to development and redevelopment, especially Appendix D Fire Apparatus Access, that meets the OFC, makes use of fire official discretion as the OFC grants especially through Sections D103.1 and D103.3, and accommodates fire apparatus access well in infill and urban development contexts without excessive land consumption, to increase cyclist, pedestrian, and driver safety by lessen speeding of passenger cars, and accommodate other site planning objectives such as maximizing the number of multi-family units within allowed density, siting and sizing common area open space, reducing the urban heat island effect, reducing housing construction costs, and serving Policy D-1.12 regarding infill development.

Residential Land Use

D-1.12 The City shall through WDO amendment induce more gentle infill residential development through many small private development projects of varied housing types, particularly through accessory dwelling units (ADUs); small houses; "cottage courts", "cottage clusters", or "pocket neighborhoods"; and duplexes with a focus on central Woodburn RS-zoned lots and small RMN-zoned lots. [Measures 15, 21, & D]

D-1.13 Effective no later than June 30, 2021, the City shall allow duplexes by right in any zoning district that allows a detached single-family house by right, allow duplexes on lots interior to a block as well as corner lots, and not require a larger minimum lot size for a duplex, all to conform to Oregon House Bill 2001 (2019), Section 2.(3). The City may continue to regulate duplexes as a Special Use through WDO 2.07.07 with reasonable, clear, and objective design standards.

D-1.14 The City shall pursue Policies H-1.5 and H-1.6 with an emphasis on lessening parking burden on multi-family development.

D-1.15 The City shall adopt a construction excise tax (CET) to fund affordable housing pursuant to Oregon Revised Statute 197.309(4) and other statutes as amended by Oregon Senate Bill 1533 (2016). The CET shall take effect by July 8, 2020. [Measure A]

D-1.16 As e-commerce and automated vehicles (AVs) reduce demand for commercial lands and offstreet parking respectively, in the Highway 99E corridor delineated in the Highway 99E Corridor Plan and for City capital investment and land acquisition related to housing development, for the purpose of "suburban retrofit" the City shall prioritize its housing investment in the corridor as multifamily housing and, especially in the Gateway Overlay and Mixed Use Village (MUV) zoning districts, with less off-street parking than is conventional.

D-1.17 For purpose of housing development, the City should identify and lobby owners of decaying and marginal Highway 99E Corridor commercial properties who are eager to liquidate but for whom little or no market exists to sell on terms that meet their financial needs. The City should purchase bargain price lands while also serving as buyer of last resort from owners motivated to obtain capital for personal needs such as to buy a home, pay medical debt, retire, or otherwise not risk poverty.



D-1.18 The City as part of its housing capital improvement projects shall have internal mix of affordable and market rate units as much as feasible without conflicting with any state regulations that might make collection and spending of affordable housing monies contingent on certain mixes. For an affordable housing project, the City shall have several levels of affordability relative to median income.

D-1.19 The City shall require multi-family developments that charge for off-street parking, whether bundled with rent or separately, to charge a uniform amount without distinguishing among classes of parking stalls such as by charging the most for garage stalls, less for carport stalls and open air reserved stalls, and the least for open air stalls at the outer edges of parking areas. [Measure 2]

D-1.20 The City should institute a training program for small developers (infill developers) by April 2020. [Measure D]

D-1.21 Effective no later than June 30, 2021, the City shall amend WDO 2.07.20 Accessory Dwelling Units to neither require owner occupancy nor require construction of additional off-street parking on sites where an excess of off-street parking exists, all to conform to Oregon House Bill 2001 (2019), Section 7.(5)(b)(B).

D-1.22 The City should either (a) rescind WDO 3.05.03F.2 that requires garages for multi-family dwellings or (b) amend the section to require carports and also either eliminate the minimum coverage of parking or lower it from 50%. [Measure 4]

Section H Transportation

H-1.5 The City shall prioritize through WDO standards and capital improvement projects walking, cycling, transit, and car/ride share within Woodburn as chief means to reduce the transportation cost of combined household housing and transportation costs.

H-1.6 Effective by December 25, 2019, the City shall require developments to provide bicycle parking that is plentiful, amply sized, conveniently placed, easily found, and at least partially covered or sheltered. [Measure 6]

H-1.7 Effective by December 25, 2019, the City shall require developers to improve existing and planned Woodburn Transit System and Salem-Keizer Cherriots bus stops similar to how it requires improvement of other public infrastructure as part of street improvements. The City shall require developers to provide bus stops with bicycle parking and as part of its capital improvement of bus stops should provide bicycle parking. [Measure 5]

H-1.8 Effective by July 8, 2020, the City shall adopt a transit system development charge (SDC) to expand and improve the Woodburn Transit System (WTS), attracting riders and reducing car travel. [Measure B]

H-1.9 The City shall expand and manage as a public asset across the city and UGB a system of parking garages and/or lots and shall allow developments to buy into or rent stalls as part of developments meeting off-street parking requirements, if such requirements exist. The objective is to allow and facilitate efficient use of regional and right-sized amounts of off-street parking, lessen land consumption development by development by off-street parking especially for multi-family, prevent forcing developments to provide individual supplies of excess parking, and provide for transition into transportation hubs for taxis, automated vehicles (AVs), and car and ride share services.



Specifically, the City shall outside the Downtown Development and Conservation (DDC) zoning district identify, acquire agency over, and implement at least one such parking site by August 2021 and an additional site by August 2022. One shall be in the southwestern area of the city or UGB, and one shall be within the Highway 99E corridor delineated in the Highway 99E Corridor Plan. [Measure K1]

H-1.10 The City should lower off-street parking requirements and prioritize first the land use categories of multi-family, mixed-use that includes multi-family, and commercial. Secondary priority are industrial and civic/semi-public/public and categories. Effective by December 25, 2019, the City should lower any minimum ratios that exceed those recommended in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) *Transportation Planning Handbook* to no more than the ITE ratios or below them. [Measure 1]

H-1.11 Effective by December 25, 2019, the City shall raise the allowed percentage of off-street parking stalls that can be compact. [Measure 13]

Section K Downtown Design

K-7.5 The City shall tailor single-family lot development standards so as to not burden owners of historical platted lots in central Woodburn that pre-date zoning and are typically narrower and/or smaller (5,000 or fewer square feet) and facilitate more housing in central Woodburn through infill development in service of Policy D-1.12. The City should in central Woodburn allow house, accessory dwelling unit, and duplex reduced setbacks and increased lot coverages and consider reducing minimum off-street parking requirements compared to conventional residential greenfield development. [Measure 15]

Section M Energy Conservation

M-1.9 The City should install electric vehicle (EV) fast charging stations in at least two City parking areas (among city hall, the aquatic center, parks, public garages and lots, and City street parking) and should partner with commercial and industrial developers to install EV charging stalls on or off-street and conveniently close to local residents. [Measure 4]



GLOSSARY

The definitions below do not necessarily supersede those in ORS, OAR, the WDO, or per WDO 1.02 & 4.02.06B.6.b. the *New Oxford American Dictionary*, 2010 edition.

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU): An interior, attached or detached residential structure that is used in connection with or that is accessory to a single-family dwelling. [ORS 197.312(5)(b)].

Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI): An assessment of the capacity of land within the city Urban Growth Boundary to accommodate forecasted housing and employment needs.

Buildable Residential Land: Includes land that is designated for residential development that is vacant and part-vacant and not constrained by existing buildings or environmental issues.

Constrained land: Land that is unavailable for future net new residential development based on one or more factors, such as environmental protections, public lands, floodplains, or steep slopes.

Cost Burdened: Defined by US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) as households who spend over 30% of their income on housing.

Cottages: Small, single-level, detached units, often on their own lots and sometimes clustered around pockets of shared open space. A cottage is typically under 1,000 square feet in footprint.

Density: Defined by the number of housing units on one acre of land.

Development density: Expected number of dwelling units (per acre) based on current zoning designations.

Family: A group two or more people (one of whom is the householder) related by birth, marriage, or adoption and residing together.

High Density: Lots with the average density of 12+ dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-038-0060(1)(b)(B)(iii)]. Best suited for multifamily housing such as apartments and condos.

Housing Needs Analysis (HNA): The Housing Needs Analysis consists of four distinct reports that analyze the state of housing supply, housing affordability issues and the City's ability to meet projected housing demand going into 2040.

Housing Unit (or Dwelling Unit): A house, an apartment or other group of rooms, or a single room is regarded as a housing unit when it is occupied or intended for occupancy as separate living quarters; that is, when the occupants do not live and eat with any other person in the structure and there is direct access from the outside or common hall.

Household: Consists of all people that occupy a housing unit.

HUD: Acronym for US Department of Housing and Urban Development, the federal agency dedicated to strengthening and supporting the housing market.

Low Density: Lots with the average density of 3-4 dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-038-0060(1)(b)(B)(i)]. Best suited for family housing such as single family detached homes.

Manufactured Housing: is a type of prefabricated home that is largely assembled of site and then transported to sites of use. The definition of the term in the United States is regulated by federal law



(Code of Federal Regulations, 24 CFR 3280): "Manufactured homes are built as dwelling units of at least 320 square feet in size, usually with a permanent chassis to assure the initial and continued transportability of the home. The requirement to have a wheeled chassis permanently attached differentiates "manufactured housing" from other types of prefabricated homes, such as modular homes.

Manufactured Home Park (or manufactured home park): a local zoning designation that is specifically intended to address demand for this housing type. OAR chapter 813, division 007 is adopted to implement section 9, chapter 816, Oregon Laws 2009, and sections 2, 3 and 4, chapter 619, Oregon Laws 2005, as amended by sections 10 to 12, chapter 816, Oregon Laws 2009, and sections 19, and 21, chapter 503, Oregon Laws 2011 for the purpose of regulating manufactured dwelling parks.

Median Family Income (MFI): The median sum of the income of all family members 15 years and older living in the household. Families are groups of two or more people (one of whom is the householder) related by birth, marriage, or adoption and residing together; all such people (including related subfamily members) are considered as members of one family.

Medium Density: Lots with the average density of 6-12 dwelling units per acre [based on OAR 660-038-0060(1)(b)(B)(ii)]. Best suited for small lot housing such as single family attached, townhomes, plexes and cottages.

Mixed Use: Characterized as two or more residential, commercial, cultural, institutional, and/or industrial uses into one combined building or building(s) on the same parcel of land.

Multi-Family Housing: Stacked flats in a single buildings or groups of buildings on a single lot. Parking is shared, and entrance to units is typically accessed through a shared lobby. See also WDO 1.02 Definitions, "Dwellings ... Multiple-Family Dwelling": A building on a single lot containing three or more dwelling units. Note: This definition does not include row houses, where attached single-family dwelling units are located on separate lots."

Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR): Administrative Rules are created by most agencies and some boards and commissions to implement and interpret their statutory authority (ORS 183.310(9)). Agencies may adopt, amend, repeal or renumber rules, permanently or temporarily. Every OAR uses the same numbering sequence of a three-digit chapter number followed by a three-digit division number and a four-digit rule number. For example, Oregon Administrative Rules, chapter 166, division 500, rule 0020 is cited as OAR 166-500-0020. (oregon.gov)

Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS): The codified laws of the State of Oregon.

Part-vacant land: Unconstrained land that has some existing development, but can be subdivided to allow for additional residential development.

Plexes and Apartments: Multiple units inside one structure on a single lot. Usually each unit has its own entry. See also WDO 1.02 Definitions, "Dwellings ... Multiple-Family Dwelling": A building on a single lot containing three or more dwelling units. Note: This definition does not include row houses, where attached single-family dwelling units are located on separate lots."

Seasonal dwellings: These units are intended by the owner to be occupied during only certain seasons of the year. They are not anyone's usual residence. A seasonal unit may be used in more than one season; for example, for both summer and winter sports. Published counts of seasonal units also



include housing units held for occupancy by migratory farm workers. While not currently intended for year-round use, most seasonal units could be used year-round.

Severely Cost Burdened: Defined US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) as households who spend over 50% of their income on housing.

Single Family Attached: Dwelling units that are duplexes without a subdividing property line between the two to four housing units. "Attached" duplexes require a single building permit for both dwelling units. The "attached" units would be addressed with one numerical street address for the overall structure with separate alpha-numeric unit numbers for each dwelling.

Single Family Detached: Free standing residential building, unattached, containing separate bathing, kitchen, sanitary, and sleeping facilities designed to be occupied by not more than one family, not including manufactured and mobile homes.

Townhome (also known as duplexes, rowhouse, etc.): Attached housing units, each on a separate lot, and each with its own entry from a public or shared street or common area. See also WDO 1.02 Definitions, "Dwellings ... Row House": "A building containing three or more dwelling units, arranged so that each dwelling unit is located on a separate lot. The building often consists of a series of houses of similar or identical design, situated side by side and joined by common walls."

Urban Growth Boundary (UGB): Under Oregon law, each of the state's cities and metropolitan areas has created an urban growth boundary around its perimeter – a land use planning line to control urban expansion onto farm and forest lands.

Vacant housing unit: A housing unit is vacant if no one is living in it at the time of enumeration, unless its occupants are only temporarily absent. Units temporarily occupied at the time of enumeration entirely by people who have a usual residence elsewhere are also classified as vacant.

Vacant land: Vacant and part-vacant land identified within the local buildable land inventory that is not developed and unconstrained for future planned residential development.

Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO): The land development and zoning code of the City of Woodburn, which the City Council last amended June 24, 2019 via Ordinance No. 2573.

